



P.O. Box N-7508, Nassau, Babamas 🔳 Tel: (242) 502-1500 🔳 Fax: (242) 322-3048 🗖 E-mail: Info@nib-babamas.com

March 27, 2009

Hon. Zhivargo Laing Minister of State For Finance MINISTRY OF FINANCE Nassau, Bahamas

Dear Minister Laing

I have the honour to submit to you the report of the 8th Actuarial Review of the National Insurance Fund as of December 31, 2006, prepared in accordance with Section 48 of the National Insurance Act. The Review has been performed by the Board's Actuary, Mr. Derek Osborne.

The Board accepts this report and hopes that changes to the National Insurance Act and Regulations emanating from this report may be made soon.

Sincerely

Patrick Ward Chairman

NATIONAL INSURANCE BOARD OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF THE BAHAMAS

Commissioned To Serve ~~

Table E.	10 Administrative & Total	Expenditure - Industria			
	As a % of Insurable Wages				
Year Ended	Admin. & Other Expenditure	Total Branch Expenditure			
2002	0.20%	0.76%			
2003	0.22%	0.69%			
2004	0.24%	0.83%			
2005	0.22%	0.83%			
2006	0.27%	0.91%			

With an allocation of 1% of insurable earnings plus investment returns, the EIB Branch incurred large surpluses each year.

al Branch

8th Actuarial Review National Insurance Fund

E.3 Industrial Benefits Branch

Table E.7 Injury Benefit Experience, 2002-2006

Year Ended	# Claims Awarded per 1,000 Insureds	Average Benefit Duration (days)	Average Weekly Benefit	Cost as a % of Insurable Wages
2002	10	23.8	208.20	0.07%
2003	10	22.5	210.36	0.07%
2004	10	21.9	225.98	0.07%
2005	11	25.8	219.96	0.08%
2006	11	24.2	214.63	0.08%

Table E.8 Medical And Disablement Grant Experience, 2002-2006

	Medical E	Expenses	Disablem	ent Grant
Year Ended	# Claims Awarded	Cost as a % of Insurable Wages	# Claims Awarded	Cost as a % of Insurable Wages
2002	N/A	0.33%	39	0.008%
2003	1,222	0.24%	65	0.008%
2004	927	0.34%	50	0.007%
2005	1,526	0.34%	33	0.005%
2006	2,165	0.39%	36	0.004%

Table E.9 Disablement & Death Benefit Awards & Pensions In Payment, 2002-2006

	Disablement Benefit			Death Benefit		
Year Ended	# Pensions Awarded	Pensions In Payment (December)	Payments as a % of Insurable Wages	# Pensions Awarded	Pensions In Payment (December)	Payments as a % of Insurable Wages
2002	38	346	0.13%	3	84	0.02%
2003	62	404	0.14%	1	84	0.02%
2004	47	445	0.15%	2	74	0.02%
2005	33	469	0.16%	6	73	0.02%
2006	36	499	0.16%	4	74	0.02%



P.O. Box N-7508, Nassau, Babamas 🔳 Tel: (242) 502-1500 🗖 Fax: (242) 322-3048 🗖 E-mail: Info@nib-babamas.com

March 17, 2008

Mr. Patrick Ward Chairman THE NATIONAL INSURANCE BOARD

Dear Mr. Ward:

It is my pleasure to present to you the 8th Actuarial Review of the National Insurance Fund prepared as at December 31, 2006.

The key elements of this report are:

- a review of past experience; (i)
- (ii) scenarios; and
- (iii)

I am grateful to the many persons involved in the preparation of this report, especially Mrs. Tami Francis, Statistical/Research Analyst in our Actuarial & Research Services Department. I also wish to express my thanks to other NIB staff, the Central Bank of The Bahamas and the Government's Department of Statistics for their assistance.

Sincerely,

Derek M. Osborne, FSA Actuary

NATIONAL INSURANCE BOARD **OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF THE BAHAMAS**

60-year projections of NIB's income, expenditure and reserves under three

policy recommendations aimed at enhancing the relevance and financial sustainability of The Bahamas' primary social security system.

E.2 Short-term Benefits Branch

Table E.3 S	ickness Benefit Experience, 20	02-2006		
Year Ended	# Claims Awarded per 1,000 Insureds	Average Benefit Duration (days)	Average Weekly Benefit	Cost as a % of Insurable Wages
2002	144	16.1	194.23	0.63%
2003	178	13.7	194.13	0.68%
2004	157	14.6	199.93	0.66%
2005	151	14.6	201.05	0.62%
2006	152	14.8	202.71	0.61%

Table E.4 Maternity Benefit Experience, 2002-2006

Year Ended	# Claims Awarded per 1,000 Insureds	Average Benefit Duration (days)	Average Weekly Benefit	Cost as a % of Insurable Wages
2002	24	68.4	213.98	0.37%
2003	22	69.1	216.41	0.36%
2004	22	68.9	217.82	0.47%
2005	21	68.7	224.76	0.38%
2006	20	71.0	223.35	0.36%

Table E.5 Maternity Grant & Funeral Benefit Experience, 2002-2006

Year Ended	# Births	# Claims Awarded	Cost as a % of Insurabl e Wages	# Death s	# Claims Awarded	Cost as a % of Insurable Wages
2002	5,216	3,242	0.09%	1,827	1,130	0.12%
2003	5,054	3,070	0.08%	1,720	1,167	0.12%
2004	5,154	3,178	0.09%	1,766	1,195	0.12%
2005	5,548	3,286	0.08%	1,924	1,247	0.12%
2006		3,357	0.08%		1,182	0.10%

Table E.6 Administrative & Total Expenditure - STB Branch

	AS a % of Insurable Wages				
Year Ended	Admin. & Other Expenditure	Total Branch Expenditure			
2002	0.25%	1.45%			
2003	0.27%	1.52%			
2004	0.33%	1.67%			
2005	0.29%	1.50%			
2006	0.34%	1.49%			

Appendix E Benefit Experience & Branch Analysis

E.1 Long-term Benefits Branch

Table E.1 LTB Branch Expenditur	e As % of Insurable	Wages, 2002 - 2006
---------------------------------	---------------------	--------------------

	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006
Benefits					
Retirement	3.09%	3.26%	3.47%	3.37%	3.28%
Invalidity	0.50%	0.53%	0.54%	0.52%	0.52%
Survivors	0.63%	0.66%	0.67%	0.64%	0.61%
Assistance					
OANCP	0.60%	0.57%	0.52%	0.44%	0.38%
Invalidity	0.48%	0.47%	0.46%	0.42%	0.38%
Survivors	0.13%	0.13%	0.11%	0.10%	0.08%
Administrative & Other Expenses	1.11%	1.25%	1.54%	1.46%	1.91%
Total	6.55%	6.87%	7.30%	6.94%	7.17%
Total Benefits (millions of \$'s)	78.3	81.3	85.8	88.4	92.9

Table E.2 Pensions In Payment, Awarded & Terminated, 2002-2006

Pension	Paid in	Awarded	Terminated Paid in 2002 2006 Dec 2006 Average Mon Pension		Monthly sion	
Туре	Dec 2001	2002 - 2008	2002 - 2008	Dec 2006	Dec. 2001	Dec. 2006
Benefits						
Retirement	10,687	5,564	2,382	13,869	\$316	\$349
Invalidity	1,716	1,007	637	2,086	\$308	\$339
Survivors	2,946	1,949	1,370	3,525	\$229	\$239
Assistance						
OANCP	3,701	629	1,513	2,817	\$200	\$200
Invalidity	2,769	679	689	2,759	\$200	\$2 00
Survivors	1,018	230	531	717	\$151	\$155

Figures for Survivors pensions represent the number of claims not the number of pensioners.

Table of Contents

Table of Contents
Abbreviations and Acronyms
Introduction
Executive Summary
Chapter 1 Activities & Experience Since The 7 th
1.1 Economic Experience
1.2 Amendments To Act & Regulations
1.3 National Insurance Experience
1.4 Benefit Branch Experience & Reserves
1.5 Experience Compared With Projections of 7
1.0 Investments
Chapter 2 Accessment Of Parformance & System
2.1 Listerial Defense of 1074 2006
2.1 Historical Performance, 1974 – 2006
Chapter 3 Best-Estimate Projections
3.1 Population Projections
3.2 National Insurance Projections
3.3 Comparison With Results Of 7 th Actuarial F
3.4 Sensitivity Analysis
3.5 Financing Future National Insurance Bene
Chapter 4 Alternative Scenarios
Chapter 5 Social Security Reform
5.1 A Well Designed System
5.1.1 Adjustments To Wage Ceiling, Pension
5.1.2 Wages Covered
5.1.3 Benefit Redesign
5.2 Efficient and Accurate Administrative Syste
5.3 Honest & Responsible Government
5.4 Other Issues
5.4.2 Branch Allocations & Transfer of Rese
5.5 Health And Unemployment Benefits
Statement of Actuarial Opinion
References
Appendix A Summary of Contribution & Benefit F
Appendix B Methodology, Data & Assumptions
Appendix C Projection Results – Alternate Scenari
Appendix D Income, Expenditure & Reserves, 200
Appendix E Benefit Experience & Branch Analysi
E.1 Long-term Benefits Branch
E.2 Short-term Benefits Branch
E.3 Industrial Benefits Branch

	1
	111
	iv
7 th Actuarial Review	1
	1
	2
	3
of 7th Actuarial Review	4
	5
	6
em Design	
8-	ء و
	ہ ۵
	·····/
	11
	11
	14
1 Reviews	
-	
nefits	19
	21
	24
	25
ions And Grants	
	27
stem	
butions	
serves	
	40
	41
• Descriptions	ייייייייייייייייייי אר
i	49
arios	56
2002–2006	60
zsis	61
,	01 د م
	01 גז
	02 62

Abbreviations and Acronyms

Income, Expenditure & Reserves, 2002–2006 Appendix D

			(Exp	ressed in Thou	usands of \$'s)	
Park Of The Rehemon		2002	2003	2004	2005	2006
Gross Domestic Product	Income					
Industrial Benefits	Contribution Income	121,500	122,038	125,521	135,866	149,021
International Labour Office	Investment Income	63,207	67,677	64,467	69,852	71,570
Investment Policy Statement	Other Income	4,985	5,035	5,122	5,060	5,142
Long-term Benefits	Total Income	189,692	194,750	195,110	210,778	225,733
National Insurance						
National Insurance Board	Expenditure	0.055		0 750	10.004	10 700
National Insurance Fund	Sickness Benefit	9,055	9,808	9,/59	10,034	10,788
Pav-as-vou-go	Maternity Benefit	5,284	5,261	7,009	6,173	6,441
Short-term Benefits	Maternity Grant	1,261	1,227	1,286	1,367	1,397
Total Fertility Rate	Funeral Benefit	1,737	1,736	1,807	1,921	1,804
Voluntary Early Retirement Program	Sickness Assistance	25	22	24	11	31
	Retirement Benefit	44 544	47 175	51 611	54 326	57 905
	Invalidity Benefit	7 1 7 9	7 692	8 071	8 343	9 183
	Survivor's Benefit	9 095	9 533	9 903	10 305	10.804
	$Old_A a e Assistance$	2,0,0 2,2,2,8	8 212	7,703	7 103	6 787
	Invalidity Assistance	6 891	6 838	6 787	6 748	6 767
	Survivor's Assistance	1,944	1,813	1,643	1,563	1,469
	Medical Care	4.692	3,404	5.075	5,459	6.886
	Injury Benefit	1,072	989	1 071	1 352	1.366
	Disablement Benefit	1 907	2 0.59	2 237	2,550	2 827
	Death Benefit	310	308	286	274	287
	Disablement Grant	115	113	111	85	74
	Total Benefit	103,746	106,190	114,423	117,614	124,816
	Administrative Expenses	21.384	23.542	29 043	27.522	36 024
	Admin Experies	1.059	1,152	1,133	1.265	1.530
	Other Expenses	452	696	(8,163)	0	(286)
	Total Admin & Other					
	Expenses	22,895	25,390	22,013	28,787	37,268
	Total Expenditure	126,641	131,580	136,436	146,401	162,084
	Surplus/(Deficit)	63,051	63,170	58,674	64,377	63,649
	Reserves at End of Year	1.162.524	1,226.518	1,285.651	1,351.143	1.415.290
	Bank Of The Bahamas Gross Domestic Product Industrial Benefits International Labour Office Investment Policy Statement Long-term Benefits National Insurance Board National Insurance Fund Pay-as-you-go Short-term Benefits Total Fertility Rate Voluntary Early Retirement Program	Bark Of The Bahamas Income Gross Domestic Product Contribution Income International Labour Office Diversiment Policy Statement National Insurance Statement National Insurance Fund Pary-servorgo Point Income Statement Policy Statement Voluntary Early Retriement Program Statement Policy Statement Pary-servorgo Statement Policy Statement Voluntary Early Retriement Program Statement Policy Statement Voluntary Early Retriement Program Retirement Penefit National Insurance Statement Policy Statement Voluntary Early Retriement Program Retirement Penefit Statement Policy Pary-servorgo Statement Policy Pary Voluntary Early Retriement Program Retirement Penefit Statement Policy Pary Statement Program Retirement Penefit Disoblement Penefit Disoblement Penefit Disoblement	Back Of The Balannas Income 121,500 Gross Domestic Product Industrial Benefits 2,000 Convestment Income 42,805 Long reem Benefits National Insurance 8,807 7,818 42,885 7,818 42,885 7,818 42,885 7,818 42,885 7,818 42,885 7,818 42,885 7,818 42,885 7,818 42,885 7,818 42,885 7,818 42,885 7,818 42,845 7,818 <td>Bank Of The Bahamas Grinss Dunestic Produce Industrial Benefits Investment Policy Statement Loog-ierm Benefits National Insurance Found National Insurance National Insura</td> <td>Bark Of The Bahanas import import</td> <td>East Of The Bahmas Centrol The Bahmas Centrol</td>	Bank Of The Bahamas Grinss Dunestic Produce Industrial Benefits Investment Policy Statement Loog-ierm Benefits National Insurance Found National Insurance National Insura	Bark Of The Bahanas import import	East Of The Bahmas Centrol

		Pens	sions, Gran	ts & Benefits	8		Benefits as a % of:		
Year	Retirement	Invalidity	Survivors	Assistance Pensions	Short-term	Industrial	Insurable Wages	GDP	
2006	57.9	9.2	10.8	15.0	20.5	11.4	7.1%	1.9%	
2007	67.2	9.8	12.0	16.0	21.3	12.0	7.3%	2.0%	
2008	72.7	10.2	13.2	14.9	22.5	13.1	7.3%	2.0%	
2009	79.1	10.6	14.3	14.4	28.9	15.4	6.2%	2.1%	
2010	86.4	11.1	15.5	14.0	31.1	16.4	6.2%	2.2%	
2011	95.2	11.8	16.9	13.7	32.8	17.4	6.4%	2.2%	
2012	106.4	12.7	18.3	13.5	34.6	18.4	6.6%	2.3%	
2016	169.2	17.5	24.5	13.3	42.5	23.3	7.7%	2.7%	
2026	484.1	35.8	44.0	13.8	65.3	38.8	12.0%	4.1%	
2036	1,048.4	60.0	73.8	14.8	95.0	59.6	16.7%	5.7%	
2046	1,776.1	92.6	118.3	17.6	137.2	88.8	19.5%	6.7%	
2056	2,855.9	140.1	179.6	20.8	193.7	129.3	22.3%	7.5%	
2066	4,317.5	195.2	258.0	24.9	274.4	183.8	24.0%	7.9%	

Table C.7. Projected Benefit Expenditure- Low Dependency Scenario (millions of \$'s)

Table C.8. Projected	l Contributors &	Pensioners, Lo	w Dependency	Scenario
----------------------	------------------	----------------	--------------	----------

	# of		#		Total # of	Ratio of		
Year	Contributors	Retirement	Invalidity	Survivors	Assistance	Death & Disablement	Pensioners	Contributors to Pensioners
2006	134,112	13,896	2,090	6,092	5,940	573	28,591	4.7
2007	137,553	14,464	2,116	6,371	5,787	584	29,323	4.7
2008	143,540	15,075	2,148	6,684	5,397	596	29,900	4.8
2009	149,825	15,760	2,194	6,979	5,086	610	30,629	4.9
2010	156,388	16,495	2,255	7,280	4,831	629	31,490	5.0
2011	159,287	17,285	2,330	7,558	4,620	650	32,443	4.9
2012	162,138	18,219	2,416	7,799	4,443	673	33,550	4.8
2016	173,165	22,814	2,838	8,409	3,953	782	38,795	4.5
2026	187,904	40,625	4,042	9,583	3,617	1,085	58,952	3.2
2036	192,727	60,656	4,866	10,660	3,433	1,296	80,911	2.4
2046	198,070	73,653	5,387	11,501	3,195	1,431	95,166	2.1
2056	197,692	85,105	5,853	12,163	2,951	1,551	107,623	1.8
2066	195,941	92,661	5,927	12,384	2,756	1,571	115,299	1.7

Introduction

The Bahamas National Insurance Board (NIB) began operations in October 1974. Employed and self-employed persons are covered for three main types of social security benefits – short-term, long-term and industrial (employment injury) benefits. The system is financed by contributions which are levied on employment earnings up to a wage ceiling and are paid by employers, employees and self-employed persons. Surplus funds are invested in various types of securities.

This is the report of the 8th Actuarial Review of National Insurance Fund and in accordance with Section 48 of The National Insurance Act, 1972, is being prepared five years after the 7th Actuarial Review.

The main purpose of periodic actuarial reviews is to determine if the National Insurance system in The Bahamas operates on sound financial and actuarial bases and if it provides adequate and affordable levels of income protection. Where considered necessary, recommendations aimed at ensuring that these objectives can be achieved for current and future generations are made.

For this actuarial review, 60-year demographic and financial projections have been performed. It should be noted that these projections are dependent on the underlying data, methodology and assumptions concerning uncertain future events and that the outcomes and eventual experience will most likely differ, possibly materially, from that indicated in the projections. Therefore, in accordance with the National Insurance Act, periodic actuarial reviews should be conducted. The next actuarial review of the National Insurance Fund is due as at December 31, 2011.

Executive Summary

Actuarial reviews of the National Insurance Fund provide governments, workers, employers and pensioners with a comprehensive assessment of the current and projected state of the Bahamas' primary social security system. They also provide policy recommendations for changes designed to enhance overall system relevance and financial viability. With pension promises extending well into the future, it is important that proactive steps are taken to ensure that appropriate responses to changing socio-economic conditions are made.

Government interference where there should be none and the failure to intervene when warranted. continue to negatively affect the proper functioning of the National Insurance Board. By either limiting the possibility for efficient and effective administration or being reluctant to implement recommended changes other than those that enhance benefits, decisions and actions of policymakers threaten the ongoing relevance and future sustainability of the Fund.

In 2003, the Government established the Social Security Reform Commission which reviewed the findings and recommendations of the 7th Actuarial Review. The Commission consulted with stakeholders throughout The Bahamas and completed its report in 2005. The report's extensive list of recommendations covered suggestions for broadening National Insurance's scope, enhancing benefit equity and relevance, reducing the cost of operations and enhancing long-term sustainability. As of March 2008, the Commission's report has not been made public and no contribution or benefit changes emanating from that report or the 7th Actuarial Review have been made. The recommendations regarding placing some investments overseas and with local private investment managers have been adopted.

In each of the years 2002 to 2006, contribution income was insufficient to meet total expenditure. However, the Fund continued to realise annual surpluses due to the income generated from invested assets. In general, Fund performance fell short of the projections of the Intermediate scenario of the 7th Actuarial Review, with the 2006 year-end reserve of \$1.415 billion being closer to the projected reserves of the *Pessimistic* scenario. The factors that continue to negatively impact National Insurance Fund finances are low compliance among self-employed persons and small businesses, the late payment of contributions by most employers, declining investment returns and excessive administrative costs.

Main Findings

This report's assessment of National Insurance policy and design indicators suggests that current contribution and benefit provisions provide a fair level of income protection to most workers and pensioners, with the low wage ceiling being the main factor limiting a more appropriate level of protection. (Section 2.2) Extensive reforms aimed at enhancing both system relevance and financial sustainability are discussed and recommended in this report.

For this report, three sets of 60-year projections of the Bahamas' population and National Insurance Fund finances have been performed so that a range of reasonable prospects for the Fund may be assessed. These projections are based on there being no changes to the current contribution rate or

Table C.5. Projected Bahamas Population, Low Dependency Scenario

Year	Total	Age 0 - 15	Age 16 - 64	Age 60 & over	Ratio of Persons 16-64 To 65 & Over
2000	303,611	95,146	192,617	15,848	12.2
2006	329,288	93,538	215,324	20,426	10.5
2011	349,684	89,084	235,878	24,722	9.5
2016	369,213	87,619	251,706	29,887	8.4
2021	387,713	88,922	261,923	36,867	7.1
2026	404,898	90,562	267,890	46,446	5.8
2031	419,849	91,417	271,056	57,376	4.7
2036	432,064	91,052	274,530	66,482	4.1
2046	449,128	88,594	282,329	78,205	3.6
2056	459,560	89,121	282,403	88,036	3.2
2066	465,396	89,526	279,206	96,664	2.9

Table C.6. Projected Cash Flows & Reserve, Low Dependency Scenario (millions of \$'s)

	•					_	-				
		Cash Int	lows			Cash O	utflows			Re	eserves
Year	Contribution Income	Investment Income	Other Income	Total	Benefits	Admin. Expenses	Other Expenses	Total	Surplus/ (Deficit)	End of Year	# of times current year's expenditure
2006	149.0	71.6	5.1	225.7	124.8	36.0	1.2	162.1	63.6	1,415	8.7
2007	160.2	70.6	5.0	235.9	138.4	31.0	1.5	170.9	64.9	1,480	8.7
2008	168.3	77.6	5.0	250.9	146.5	31.0	1.6	179.1	71.8	1,552	8.7
2009	220.1	86.1	5.0	311.2	162.6	32.6	2.1	197.4	113.9	1,666	8.4
2010	237.1	92.5	5.0	334.5	174.6	33.9	2.2	210.8	123.8	1,790	8.5
2011	249.3	99.2	5.0	353.6	187.8	34.3	2.4	224.5	129.1	1,919	8.5
2012	262.0	106.2	5.0	373.3	204.0	34.7	2.5	241.1	132.2	2,051	8.5
2016	318.7	134.7	5.0	458.4	290.2	35.4	3.0	328.6	129.8	2,581	7.9
2026	479.2	165.3	5.0	649.5	682.8	45.5	4.5	732.9	(83.4)	3,044	4.2
2036	682.7	(40.4)	5.0	647.3	1,354.4	64.8	6.5	1,425.7	(778.4)	(1,149)	(0.8)
2046	964.8	(787.0)	5.0	182.9	2,233.8	91.6	9.2	2,334.6	(2,151.7)	(15,787)	(6.8)
2056	1,333.3	(2,591.2)	5.0	(1,252.9)	3,523.5	126.5	12.7	3,662.7	(4,915.7)	(50,883)	(13.9)
2066	1,850.8	(6,484.3)	5.0	(4,628.5)	5,259.7	175.6	17.6	5,452.9	(10,081.4)	(126,201)	(23.1)

Negative reserves indicate the indebtedness of the Fund and negative investment income is the current cost of servicing that debt.

		Pens		Benefits as a % of:				
Year	Retirement	Invalidity	Survivors	Assistance Pensions	Short-term	Industrial	Insurable Wages	GDP
2006	57.9	9.2	10.8	15.0	20.5	11.4	7.1%	1.9%
2007	67.3	9.9	11.9	16.0	21.2	12.0	7.3%	2.0%
2008	73.6	10.3	13.0	15.0	21.8	12.8	7.6%	2.0%
2009	81.0	10.8	14.1	14.5	26.7	14.8	6.7%	2.1%
2010	89.4	11.5	15.2	14.2	28.2	15.3	6.8%	2.2%
2011	99.1	12.2	16.4	13.9	29.7	16.2	7.0%	2.2%
2012	111.2	13.2	17.6	13.7	31.3	17.2	7.3%	2.3%
2016	178.1	18.3	22.6	13.5	38.2	21.7	8.6%	2.7%
2026	524.6	38.7	38.5	14.1	59.3	36.9	13.8%	4.3%
2036	1,175.6	67.7	64.2	15.1	88.3	58.4	19.6%	6.2%
2046	2,053.4	108.4	106.5	18.1	129.7	89.3	23.2%	7.5%
2056	3,393.9	171.4	167.2	21.4	182.8	132.5	27.3%	8.6%
2066	5,364.4	247.6	245.2	25.6	255.9	189.2	30.9%	9.5%

Table C.3. Projected Benefit Expenditure- High Dependency Scenario (millions of \$'s)

Table C.4. Projected Contributor	& Pensioners, High	Dependency Scenario
----------------------------------	--------------------	---------------------

	# of		#	of Pension	iers		Total # of	Ratio of
Year	Contributors	Retirement	Invalidity Survivors Assistan		Assistance	Death & Disablement	Pensioners	Contributors to Pensioners
2006	134,112	13,896	2,090	6,092	5,940	573	28,591	4.7
2007	136,647	14,499	2,127	6,315	5,797	586	29,324	4.7
2008	138,876	15,178	2,170	6,569	5,426	600	29,942	4.6
2009	141,177	15,969	2,226	6,794	5,128	616	30,733	4.6
2010	143,518	16,822	2,295	7,010	4,882	635	31,644	4.5
2011	145,585	17,704	2,373	7,189	4,679	656	32,601	4.5
2012	147,588	18,700	2,459	7,315	4,507	678	33,660	4.4
2016	155,049	23,405	2,864	7,417	4,028	776	38,490	4.0
2026	164,490	41,639	4,067	7,593	3,694	1,067	58,060	2.8
2036	166,398	61,991	4,966	8,114	3,512	1,289	79,872	2.1
2046	166,651	74,738	5,549	8,650	3,281	1,436	93,655	1.8
2056	158,689	85,340	6,060	8,951	3,039	1,562	104,952	1.5
2066	146,688	92,817	6,065	8,837	2,836	1,562	112,118	1.3

benefit rules. Given the uncertainty in projecting such an extended period the timing of certain events and the rates that will apply have been presented as ranges.

- total expenditure until between 2011 and 2015.
- Insurance reserves are projected to peak at between \$2.2 billion and \$3.2 billion.
- 3. The Fund will be depleted between 2029 and 2035.
- average premium, is between 15.2% and 19.0%.
- total expenditure in 2066, will be between 24.8% and 32.2%.
- 2006 to between 1.3 and 1.7 in 2066.
- the recommended changes to Retirement benefit provisions are made.

Recommendations

The following recommendations aimed at enhancing the Fund's relevance and long-term sustainability have been made throughout the report.

- 1. Publish the report of the Social Security Reform Commission.
- with estimated national wage increases. (Section 5.1.1)
- Index. (Section 5.1.1)
- wages up to the ceiling paid to pensionable civil servants. (Section 5.1.2)
- 6. Substantially reduce administrative costs. (Section 5.2)
- sections of the National Insurance Act to:
 - (i) organisations are nominated by these organisations, and
 - (ii)of policy only. (Section 5.3)

1. If the wage ceiling is increased to \$600, contribution income will once again be sufficient to meet

2. Total expenditure will first exceed total income between 2019 and 2024 when National

4. The average long-term cost of benefits over the next 60 years, often referred to as the general

5. The pay-as-you-go rate, or the rate required to produce just enough contribution income to meet

6. The number of National Insurance contributors per pensioner is expected to decline from 4.7 in

7. A significant reduction in long-term costs of almost 2% of insurable wages could be realised if

2. Increase the ceiling on insurable wages to \$600 per week and then annually thereafter in line

3. Adjust all pensions and other benefit amounts annually in line with changes in the Retail Price

4. Expand the base for wages covered by NIB to include all wages earned from multiple employment, tips and gratuities included in the pay cheques of hospitality sector workers, and all

5. Make the many changes to benefit provisions discussed and listed in Table 5.1 so that greater equity, consistency and relevance is brought to the entire NI benefits package. (Section 5.1)

7. Establish and adhere to an effective public sector governance model and amend relevant

Require that persons appointed Board members to represent worker and employer

Limit the authority afforded the Minister regarding directions given to the Board to matters

- 8. Strengthen the penalties for late or non-payment of contributions and introduce new legal measures, such as garnishing. (Section 5.4.1)
- 9. Revise the allocation of contribution income between benefit branches and transfer reserves so that branches are appropriately funded. Also, the Death and Disablement reserve fund should be eliminated. (Section 5.4.2)
- 10. If new benefits, such as health or unemployment, are added to the National Insurance benefits package, adequate safeguards that protect the National Insurance Fund should be put in place. (Section 5.5)
- 11. Regarding investments, it is recommended that there be no further increase in the portion of assets invested in Bahamas Government and statutory body instruments while the portion of the Fund invested overseas should be gradually increased to around 20%. (Section 1.6)

Enhancing long-term sustainability can be achieved by reducing long-term costs and/or increasing the contribution rate. Although expenditure continues to exceed contribution income and a 1% contribution rate increase can be justified, no adjustment is recommended at this time. Instead, immediate steps aimed at improving contribution collections, reducing administrative costs, bringing greater diversification to Fund investments, changing several benefit provisions and establishing a framework for good governance practices should be taken first. Then once appropriate measures that improve performance have been put in place and suitable opportunities for investing surplus funds exist, a review of the contribution rate could be made prior to the next actuarial review.

Increased attention is being brought to the challenges facing social security funds around the world. There is growing scepticism in The Bahamas regarding both the adequacy of future National Insurance pensions and the ability of the Fund to meet its future commitments without having to charge exorbitant rates. In fact, most employer-sponsored pension plans, new and old, do not factor National Insurance benefits into their design. It is therefore imperative that the Board implement the changes suggested in this report and adequately educate workers and employers on the income replacement objectives of National Insurance pensions. The Government should also create innovative ways to encourage employers and individuals to create pension arrangements that compliment National Insurance pensions.

The Bahamas appears set to benefit from significant amounts of foreign direct investment in the coming years. If sustained higher levels of real economic growth are realised, the National Insurance Fund will benefit from expanding employment and growing wages. A strong and growing economy is considered the first ingredient for the long-term success of a social security system. However, significant improvements to sustainability cannot be brought to the Fund unless changes are also made to both benefit provisions and the contribution rate, and the sooner these changes are made, the greater the impact on Fund finances will be. A well designed system, therefore, is the second ingredient necessary for success. The coverage, contribution and benefit reforms recommended in this report seek to greatly enhance system design.

The third ingredient for success is an efficient and accurate administrative system. Much improvement is required in this regard to reduce operating costs, improve compliance, and reduce the time it takes to process pension claims.

Appendix C Projection Results – Alternate Scenarios

Table C.1. Projected Bahamas Population, High Dependency Scenario

Year	Total	Age 0 - 15	Age 16 - 64	Age 65 & over	Ratio of Persons 16-64 To 65 & Over
2000	303,611	95,146	192,617	15,848	12.2
2006 2011 2016	327,788 345,074 360,039	93,045 86,613 81,354	214,214 233,354 247,946	20,529 25,107 30,739	10.4 9.3 8.1
2021 2026	373,047 384,695	77,835 75,562	256,795 260,173	38,417 48,960	6.7 5.3
2031 2036 2046	394,167 400,641 404,082	74,142 72,555 66.349	258,920 256,613 252,695	61,105 71,473 85.037	4.2 3.6 3.0
2056	397,466	61,400	240,564	95,502	2.5
2000	384,488	56,122	221,072	104,695	2.1

Table C.2. Projected Cash Flows & Reserve, High Dependency Scenario (millions of \$'s)

	Cash Inflows				Cash Outflows				Re	Reserves	
Year	Contribution Income	Investment Income	Other Income	Total	Benefits	Admin. Expenses	Other Expenses	Total	Surplus/ (Deficit)	End of Year	# of times current year's expenditure
2006	149.0	71.6	5.1	225.7	124.8	36.0	1.2	162.1	63.6	1,415	8.7
2007	159.3	70.6	5.0	235.0	138.4	31.0	1.5	170.9	64.1	1,479	8.7
2008	163.2	70.0	5.0	238.2	146.5	31.0	1.5	179.1	59.1	1,538	8.6
2009	204.0	69.6	5.0	278.6	161.9	30.2	1.9	194.1	84.5	1,623	8.4
2010	214.7	73.3	5.0	293.0	173.7	31.7	2.0	207.4	85.6	1,709	8.2
2011	225.6	//.1	5.0	307.7	187.5	33.2	2.1	222.9	84.8 91 E	1,793	8.0
2012	250.9	00.7	5.0	322.0	204.1	54.7	2.2	241.1	61.5	1,075	/.0
2016	287.1	92.6	5.0	384.6	292.4	41.4	2.7	336.5	48.1	2,128	6.3
2026	435.0	58.2	5.0	498.2	712.9	61.9	4.1	779.0	(280.8)	1,181	1.5
2036	633.9	(236.7)	5.0	402.1	1,472.1	90.2	6.0	1,568.4	(1,166.3)	(5,968)	(3.8)
2046	911.5	(1,078.3)	5.0	(161.9)	2,508.8	129.7	8.6	2,647.1	(2,809.0)	(25,916)	(9.8)
2056	1,258.2	(2,923.9)	5.0	(1,660.7)	4,073.5	179.1	11.9	4,264.5	(5,925.2)	(69,416)	(16.3)
2066	1,725.7	(6,666.6)	5.0	(4,935.9)	6,333.8	245.6	16.4	6,595.9	(11,531.8)	(157,270)	(23.8)

Negative reserves indicate the indebtedness of the Fund and negative investment income is the current cost of servicing that debt.

The following table shows the expected incidence rates of insured persons qualifying for Invalidity benefit which is assumed for all projection years.

Table B.8. Rates of Entry Into Invalidity Per 1,000 Inst	ureds
--	-------

Age	Males	Female	
17	-	-	
22	0.096	0.050	
27	0.408	0.262	
32	0.596	0.446	
37	1.050	0.923	
42	1.085	1.044	
47	1.921	1.872	
52	2.516	3.178	
57	6.210	7.507	
62	6.721	7.889	

Table B.9, shows the assumed probability of Survivor benefit claims and the average number of eligible dependant children following the death of an insured person.

Table B.9. Survivor Characteristics

	Male	Deceased	Female De	ceased
Age	Probability of Eligible Spouse	Avg # of Eligible Children	Probability of Eligible Spouse	Avg # of Eligible Children
17	0%	-	0%	-
22	0%	-	0%	-
27	4%	0.6	5%	1.0
32	13%	0.8	10%	1.0
37	13%	0.8	9%	1.0
42	20%	0.9	11%	0.8
47	20%	0.8	10%	0.7
52	20%	0.6	6%	0.6
57	22%	0.4	3%	0.4
62	25%	0.3	2%	0.2
67	20%	0.2	1%	0.1
72	19%	0.1	1%	-
77	15%	0.1	1%	-
82	17%	0.0	0%	-
87	9%	-	0%	-

Unlike other government programs that provide goods and services for current consumption, some social security promises will not be delivered until decades from now. As a result, the actions and decisions of policymakers today - both good and bad – will determine whether or not the National Insurance system will be relevant and sustainable for future generations. The fourth and perhaps the most important ingredient for success, therefore, is honest and responsible government. For all public sector organisations, good governance should focus on two key requirements - performance as it relates to delivering on its promises and conformance with laws and public expectations. The introduction and adherence to a governance structure that promotes these two requirements, therefore, could go a long way to ensuring that the Board achieves its overall objectives in a manner that enhances public confidence in the National Insurance program.

Chapter 1 Activities & Experience Since The 7th Actuarial Review

Economic Experience 1.1

National Insurance finances, especially contribution collections, are linked to economic performance and labour market changes. As shown in the charts in Figure 1.1, real GDP growth was positive in all years averaging 2.6% between 2002 and 2006 while inflation was quite low with an annual average of 2.0%. Employment levels grew in four of the five years with a significant increase in 2006 resulting in a marked decline in the unemployment rate.

Figure 1.1. Key Economic Indictors, 2002 to 2006



Amendments To Act & Regulations 1.2

The 7th Actuarial Review of the National Insurance Fund was conducted as of December 31st, 2001. During the period 2002 to 2006, one set of amendments to Maternity benefits Regulations was enacted. The changes that materially impact National Insurance finances were:

> The maternity benefit percentage was increased from 60% to $66^2/_3$ %. This change provided for full income replacement up to the wage ceiling following a reduction in the percentage of insurable wages that the employer is obligated to pay from 40% to $33^{1}/_{3}$ %.

Table B.6. Pensions in Payment - December 2006

Age	Old-Ag	e Benefit	Invalidity Benefit Survivors Benefits		Disable Death l	ment & Benefits	Non-Contributory Pensions			
	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female
0 - 4	-	-	-	-	61	71	4	-	10	14
5 - 9	-	-	-	-	237	239	3	6	46	47
10 - 14	-	-	-	-	592	569	14	14	172	180
15 - 19	-	-	-	-	447	479	17	14	208	165
20 - 24	-	-	-	-	27	48	1	-	113	79
25 - 29	-	-	10	3	-	11	8	8	143	114
30 - 34	-	-	20	17	5	45	25	17	151	127
35 - 39	-	-	46	37	19	88	46	34	161	149
40 - 44	-	-	70	62	30	167	61	37	151	166
45 - 49	-	-	98	89	41	202	39	38	166	173
50 - 54	-	-	113	139	27	252	27	38	119	107
55 - 59	-	-	139	178	18	266	32	39	75	105
60 - 64	987	1,439	147	287	7	285	19	32	69	138
65 - 69	1,933	2,256	130	239	13	285	13	23	189	376
70 - 74	1,705	1,765	72	107	5	274	6	10	258	527
75 - 79	990	1,095	26	55	4	182	9	4	180	469
80 - 84	500	557	2	4	2	139	-	3	149	422
85 - 89	220	278	-	-	-	68	1	1	117	352
90 - 94	68	74	-	-	-	25	1	-	61	198
95 - 99	12	17	-	-	-	1			23	90
# of Pensioners	6,415	7,481	873	1,217	1,535	3,696	326	318	2,561	3,998
Avg Monthly Pension	\$ 383	\$ 321	\$ 352	\$ 329	\$ 113	\$ 151	\$ 344	\$ 241	\$ 186	\$ 186

The following table shows assumed density factors, or the average portion of the year for which contributions are made. These rates are assumed to remain constant for all years.

Table B.7. Density Of Contributions

Age	Males	Females
17	33%	28%
22	71%	69%
27	77%	81%
32	81%	87%
37	84%	90%
42	85%	93%
47	85%	94%
52	87%	94%
57	88%	94%
62	86%	92%

Age	# of Active Insureds		Average M Insurable E	Ionthly Carnings	Average # of Years of Past Contributions		
U	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	
15 - 19	3,535	2,911	875	767	0.4	0.2	
20 - 24	8,319	8,054	1,118	1,021	2.7	2.3	
25 - 29	8,820	9,161	1,278	1,226	5.5	5.2	
30 - 34	9,401	9,875	1,341	1,306	8.3	8.1	
35 - 39	9,147	9,972	1,410	1,341	11.0	11.5	
40 - 44	8,664	9,580	1,433	1,366	13.1	14.1	
45 - 49	6,974	7,906	1,445	1,378	15.0	15.7	
50 - 54	5,247	5,538	1,451	1,415	16.6	18.1	
55 - 59	3,478	3,570	1,477	1,401	18.9	19.2	
60 - 64	2,083	1,952	1,449	1,346	19.0	19.1	
65+	1,235	844	1,296	1,018	17.5	17.8	
All Ages	66,903	69,363	1,331	1,272	10.2	10.7	

Table B.5 2006 Active Insured Population, Earnings & Past Credits

qualify.

Several amendments to the National Insurance Act and Regulations were also made in 2005 as part of the Miscellaneous Written Laws (Rectification) Order, 2005. These changes, which were part of a comprehensive review of all laws of The Bahamas, had no financial implications on the Fund.

1.3 National Insurance Experience

In line with recent economic patterns, the number of contributing insured persons and their average wages increased each year. For pensions, which account for 74% of total benefit expenditure, changes to the number of pensioners and their average pension have greatest influence on yearover-year changes to benefit expenditure. The charts in Figure 1.2 highlight recent changes in the number of contributors and their average insurable wage and the number of pensioners and the average overall pension. There were no adjustments to the wage ceiling or pension rates during the period 2002 to 2006.

Figure 1.2. Contributors & Pensioners, 2002 to 2006





Note: The # of pensioners shown is the number of payments made. For Survivors benefits, one payment could be made for more than one person.

A spouse's contributions may be used to qualify for a Maternity grant where the mother fails to

The following table provides summary income and expenditure amounts for years 2002 to 2006. A more detailed version of the National Insurance finances for these years may be found in Appendix D.

Table 1.1 Summary of Finances, 2002 – 2006 (millions of \$'s)

	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006
Income					
Contributions	121.5	122.0	125.5	135.9	149.0
Investment	63.2	67.7	64.5	69.9	71.6
Other	5.0	5.0	5.1	5.1	5.1
Total	189.7	194.8	195.1	210.8	225.7
Expenditure					
Benefits	103.7	106.2	114.4	117.6	124.8
Administrative	22.4	24.7	30.2	28.8	37.6
Other	0.5	0.7	(8.2)	0.0	(0.3)
Total	126.6	131.6	136.4	146.4	162.1
Surplus	63.1	63.2	58.7	64.4	63.6
Benefit Reserves	1,162.5	1,226.5	1,285.7	1,351.1	1,415.3

Notes: Totals may be off due to rounding.

Even without a contribution rate or ceiling adjustment, contribution income would ordinarily be expected to increase gradually. With improved economic activity and better collections efforts, significant contribution growth was realised in 2005 and 2006. For benefit expenditure, the impact of retroactive payments related to the amendments to Maternity benefits resulted in a larger than usual increase in 2004 while higher Short-term and Industrial benefit costs led to the above-average rise in 2006.

A large portion of the increase in administrative costs in 2004 and 2006 was due to a Voluntary Early Retirement Package that was offered to older and long-serving employees. Some 89 employees accepted the package. While these special payments were expected to reduce payroll costs in future years, increased hiring in late 2006 and early 2007 appears to have eliminated most of the long-term savings that were expected from the staff reduction exercise.

1.4 Benefit Branch Experience & Reserves

NIB administers three major types of social security benefits – long-term or pensions, short-term benefits and industrial (employment injury) benefits. While the summary of National Insurance finances presented in the previous section shows total income and expenditure, internal accounting procedures separate finances into four branches – one each for the three groups of benefits and a

Estimates of increases in the total wages as well as the average wage earned are required. Annual average real wage increases are assumed equal to the increase in labour productivity as it is expected that wages will adjust to efficiency levels over time. Such increases are assumed to be 0.8% for the High Dependency scenario, 1.0% for Best Estimate and 1.2% for the Low Dependency Scenario. Actual projection assumptions may be found in Table 4.1.

B.2 Projection of National Insurance Income & Expenditure

This actuarial review addresses all National Insurance Fund revenue and expenditure items. For Short-term and Employment Injury benefits, income and expenditure are projected as a percentage of insurable earnings. Projections of pensions are performed following a year-by-year cohort methodology. For each year up to 2066, the number of contributors and pensioners, and the dollar value of contributions, benefits and administrative expenditure, is estimated.

Once the projections of the insured (covered) population, as described in the previous section, are complete, contribution income is then determined from the projected total insurable earnings, the contribution rate and contribution density. Contribution density refers to the average number of weeks of contributions persons make during a year.

Benefit amounts are obtained through contingency factors based primarily on plan experience and applied to the population entitled to benefits. Investment income is based on the assumed yield on the beginning-of-year reserve and net cash flow in the year. National Insurance's administrative expenses are modelled as a percentage of insurable earnings. Finally, the end-of-year reserve is the beginning-of-year reserve plus the net result of cash inflow and outflow.

B.3 National Insurance Population Data and Assumptions

The data required for the valuation of the National Insurance Fund is extensive. As of December 31st, 2006, required data includes the insured population by active and inactive status, the distribution of insurable wages among contributors, the distribution of paid and credited contributions and pensions in payment, all segregated by age and sex.

Scheme specific assumptions such as the incidence of invalidity, the distribution of retirement by age, density and collection of contributions, are determined with reference to the application of the scheme's provisions and historical experience.

Projecting investment income requires information of the existing assets at the valuation date and past performance of each class. Future expectations of changes in asset mix and expected rates of return on each asset type together allow for long-term rate of return expectations.

Details of National Insurance specific input data and the key assumptions used in this report are provided in tables B.5 through B.9.



Figures B.1. Net Immigration – Total Annual & Age-Specific Rates

The projection of the labour force, i.e. the number of people available for work, is obtained by applying assumed labour force participation rates to the projected number of persons in the total population. Between 2000 and 2030, age-specific labour force participation rates for persons over 0 are assumed to increase to the extent that they reach the levels that currently exist for persons five years younger. That is, participation rates for a 60 year old in 2030 will be those of 55 years olds in 2000. Table B.4 below shows the assumed age-specific labour force participation rates in 2006 and 2066. Between these two years, rates are assumed to change linearly.

Table B.4 Age-Specific &	Total Labour Force	Participation Rates
--------------------------	---------------------------	----------------------------

Males	A and	ales	Fem	nales	Veen	Malaa	Eamalaa
Age	2006	2066	2006	2066	Year	Males	Females
17	39%	39%	27%	27%			
22	85%	85%	78%	78%	2006	83%	75%
27	93%	93%	86%	86%	2011	83%	75%
32	97%	97%	91%	91%			
37	98%	98%	93%	93%	2016	84%	76%
42	97%	97%	93%	93%	2026	85%	77%
47	93%	93%	90%	90%	2036	86%	77%
52	90%	90%	84%	90%			
57	88%	90%	67%	82%	2046	86%	77%
62	77%	87%	50%	63%	2056	86%	76%
67	53%	75%	27%	46%	2066	86%	76%

The projected real GDP divided by the projected labour productivity per worker gives the number of employed persons required to produce total output. Unemployment is then measured as the difference between the projected labour force and employment.

fourth known as the Medical branch. Funds in this branch come from a special allocation of contributions and are used for the development of health infrastructure throughout The Bahamas.

Since the three benefit types have different characteristics and financing mechanisms, the separation allows for better monitoring of experience. Each benefit is allocated to one of the three branches and each benefit branch is allocated a certain percentage of contribution income, investment income, and administrative costs.

For the Short-term benefits branch and the non-pension benefits that fall under the Industrial benefits branch, a pay-as-you-go method of financing is used. Under this method current contributions are expected to meet current benefits with only a small reserve. Therefore, the contribution rate allocated to these benefits should approximate expected expenditure and reserve levels should be small. A very small portion of contributions is allocated to the Medical branch with the remainder going to the Pensions branch.

As shown in the following table, the contribution rate allocated to all three benefit branches has in most cases been inadequate to meet total expenditure.

Table 1.2 Summary Branch Experience (% of Insurable Wages)

Benefit Branch	Contributions	Total Expenditure					
Denent Branen	Allocated	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	
Short-term	1.39%	1.45%	1.52%	1.67%	1.50%	1.49%	
Industrial (incl. Death & Disablement)	0.72%	0.69%	0.61%	0.76%	0.75%	0.83%	
Pensions	6.23%	6.57%	6.88%	6.67%	6.76%	6.76%	
Medical	0.09%	0.07%	0.08%	0.08%	0.08%	0.09%	
All Branches	8.43%	8.79%	9.09%	9.16%	9.08%	9.17%	

Additional benefit experience and branch details for years 2002 to 2006 may be found in Appendix E.

Experience Compared With Projections of 7th Actuarial Review 1.5

In the 7th Actuarial Review, projections were prepared under three scenarios – Intermediate, Pessimistic and Optimistic. Shown below is a comparison of actual cumulative experience over the 5-year period with the projections of the Intermediate Scenario. With the exception of administrative expenditure, actual amounts were less than projected. Some of the shortfall in projected contribution income and benefit expenditure was as a result of there being no increases to the wage ceiling and pension rates. Adjustments for both were assumed to occur during the 5-year period.

	2002 - 2006 Projected – Intermediate Scenario (millions of \$'s)	2002 - 2006 Actual (millions of \$'s)	Difference
Contribution Income	713.0	653.9	8.3% below projected
Investment Income	373.7	336.8	9.9% below projected
Benefit Expenditure	608.8	566.8	6.9% below projected
Administrative Expenditure	130.8	137.5	5.1% above projected
2006 Year-end Reserves	1,469.0	1,415.3	3.7% below projected

Table 1.3 Projections from 7th Actuarial Review Compared With Actual Experience

When compared with the projections of the three scenarios, actual financial experience during the period 2002 to 2006 was more in line with the Pessimistic scenario. Projected 2006 year-end reserves under the Pessimistic Scenario were \$1,402 million.

Investments 1.6

At the end of 2006, National Insurance investments stood at \$1.35 billion, up from \$0.99 billion at the end of 2001. When investments are compared to total reserves, a useful measure of how efficiently available funds are invested, there was a marked increase from 90% to 95%. This change was due to a reduction in the amount of non-interest bearing assets on hand. NIF investments at the end of 2006 stood at 22% of GDP.

During the review period, the average yield on investments was 6.0% and the average yield on reserves 5.5%. With inflation averaging 2.0% per annum, the real rate of return on reserves over the 5-year period was 3.5%.

The following table provides a summary of the investment mix of the National Insurance Fund at year-end 2006 and 2001.

Notable changes in asset mix between 2001 and 2006 were the reduction in certificates of deposit, increases in equities and increases in bonds issued by government corporations. The purchase of additional Bank of Bahamas (BoB) shares in 2004 brought the Fund's total ownership in the Bank to 20.5% and thus resulted in a change in how this investment is reported from an Equity investment to an Investment in Associate.

In 2005 approval was granted by the Bahamas Government for the Fund to invest up to \$25 million per annum in specific foreign investments. At the end of 2006, \$19.1 million was held in US-dollar denominated certificates of deposit.

Mortality rates have been determined using The Bahamas 1999-2001 Life Table produced by the Department of Statistics. Improvements in life expectancy for the Best Estimate scenario have been assumed to follow the "slow" rate as established by the United Nations with a "medium" rate assumed for the High Dependency scenario and "very slow" for the Low Dependency scenario. Sample mortality rates for the Best Estimate scenario and the life expectancies at birth and at age 65 for sample years are provided in Table B.2.

Table B.2. Sample Mortality Rates & Life Expectancies

Age -		Males			Females	
	2006	2036	2066	2006	2036	2066
0	0.0077	0.0054	0.0044	0.0060	0.0048	0.0042
5	0.0005	0.0003	0.0002	0.0003	0.0001	0.0001
15	0.0006	0.0004	0.0003	0.0003	0.0002	0.0001
25	0.0025	0.0016	0.0012	0.0014	0.0012	0.0011
35	0.0045	0.0030	0.0024	0.0027	0.0021	0.0018
45	0.0065	0.0047	0.0039	0.0040	0.0030	0.0025
55	0.0125	0.0096	0.0083	0.0066	0.0051	0.0043
65	0.0233	0.0191	0.0171	0.0146	0.0105	0.0086
75	0.0415	0.0361	0.0334	0.0299	0.0223	0.0187
85	0.1125	0.1039	0.0994	0.0754	0.0639	0.0579
95	0.1515	0.1479	0.1459	0.1738	0.1604	0.1529
ife Expectancy	at:					
Birth	71.1	74.7	76.3	77.4	80.5	82.2
Age 65	16.6	17.6	18.2	19.2	21.2	23.1

Table B.3. Projected Age 65 Life Expectancies

	2006		2066			
	2006	Low Dependency	Best Estimate	High Dependency		
Male	16.6	17.6	18.2	18.8		
Female	19.2	21.1	23.1	23.4		

Net migration (in minus out) in 2000 is assumed to have been 600 persons. For the Best Estimate and High Dependency scenarios declines to 500 and 300 persons in 2006 respectively, have been assumed, while for the Low Dependency scenario an increase to 700 is assumed. The following charts show assumed total net migration for each year from 2000 to 2066 and the age-specific rates when total net in-migration for a single year is 100.

¹ Midpoint of Slow rates and no improvements

Appendix B Methodology, Data & Assumptions

This actuarial review makes use of the comprehensive methodology developed at the Financial and Actuarial Service of the ILO (ILO FACTS) for reviewing the long-term actuarial and financial status of a national pension scheme. The review has been undertaken by modifying the generic version of the ILO modelling tools to fit the specific case of The Bahamas and the National Insurance Fund. These modelling tools include a population model, an economic model, a labour force model, a wage model, a long-term benefits model and a short-term benefits model.

The actuarial valuation begins with a projection of The Bahamas' future demographic and economic environment. Next, projection factors specifically related to National Insurance are determined and used in combination with the demographic/economic framework to estimate future cash flows and reserves. Assumption selection takes into account both recent experience and future expectations, with emphasis placed on long-term trends rather than giving undue weight to recent experience. Projections have been made under three assumption sets for which the demographic assumptions vary.

B.1 Modelling the Demographic & Economic Developments

The general Bahamas population has been projected beginning with totals obtained from the results of the 2000 national census and by applying appropriate mortality, fertility and migration assumptions. For the Best Estimate scenario the total fertility rate is assumed to decrease from 2.0 to 1.75 in 2020, and remain constant thereafter. Table B.1 shows ultimate age-specific and total fertility rates. For the High Dependency and Low Dependency scenarios, the ultimate total fertility rates are assumed reached in 2020.

Table B.1. Age-Specific & Total Fertility Rates

Ultimate Fertilit			mate Fertility R	y Rates	
Age Group	2000	High Dependency	Best Estimate	Low Dependency	
15 - 19	0.058	0.021	0.023	0.025	
20 - 24	0.113	0.055	0.060	0.065	
25 - 29	0.105	0.086	0.094	0.102	
30 - 34	0.094	0.079	0.087	0.094	
35 - 39	0.049	0.068	0.075	0.081	
40 - 44	0.012	0.014	0.015	0.017	
45 - 49	-	-	-	-	
TFR	2.00	1.60	1.75	1.90	

Table 1.4. Summary	of Investments,	Year-
--------------------	-----------------	-------

Investment Category	
Certificates of Deposit	

Treasury Bills Bahamas Gov't Registered Stock Bonds Issued By Gov't Corporations Other Bonds & Notes Loans to Gov't Corporations **Direct Financing Leases Investment Properties** Equity Investments & Preference Shares Investment in Associate (BoB)

Total

Note: BoB is Bank Of The Bahamas

Further analysis of the Fund's investments at the end of 2006 reveals the following:

- 56% was held directly in Government of Bahamas securities;
- Government guarantees.
- 24% was held in short-term securities certificates of deposits and treasury bills.
- 98.6% of the investments were domiciled in The Bahamas.

With such heavy concentrations in several areas, the investment portfolio is not well diversified. As a result, the overall Fund is relatively high risk with return expectations that do not justify the current level of risk. It is therefore recommended that gradual reductions be made to the proportions held in Bahamas Government, quasi-government securities and short-term investments, and that the portion held overseas be increased gradually to around 20%.

Subsequent Events 1.7

Effective March 2007, minimum pension rates and all other pensions in payment were increased. Minimum pension rates were increased as follows:

200	6	2001	
\$'s	%	\$'s	%
226,831	16.8%	295,200	27.6%
94,461	7.0%	67,659	6.3%
597,550	44.3%	506,163	47.3%
238,235	17.6%	129,147	12.1%
8,847	0.7%	-	0.0%
15,581	1.2%	11,902	1.1%
59,341	4.4%	25,406	2.4%
20,868	1.5%	19,077	1.8%
57,447	4.3%	14,744	1.4%
31,199	2.3%	-	0.0%
1,350,360	100%	1,069,298	100%

-end 2006 & 2001 (millions)

Excluding share ownership in and deposits held at the Bank of The Bahamas, 19% of the Fund's investments were held in securities issued by government corporations. Most are backed by

Table 1.5 Minimum Pension Rates

	Up to	From March
Minimum Retirement (age 65), Invalidity & Survivors Pension (adult)	\$230	\$270
Minimum Retirement pension payable from age 60	\$205	\$250
Pension to Survivors children (dependants & orphans)	\$95 to \$100.50	\$110 & \$125
Assistance Pension To Adults	\$200	\$230
Assistance Pensions to Children	\$80 to \$95.33	\$92 & \$105

For persons receiving pensions at rates above the minimum, adjustments varied depending on the year that the pension was awarded as shown below.

Table 1.6 Pension Adjustment Rates – March 2007

Year Pension Started	% Increase
1998 or before	15%
1999 & 2000	12%
2001 &2002	8%
2003 & 2004	5%
2005, 2006 & up to Feb 2007	3%

These adjustments resulted in increased benefit payouts of approximately \$1.0 million per month. Also, as a consequence of these adjustments, the gap between the non-contributory pension and the minimum Retirement pension payable at age 60 was increased from \$5 to \$20.

(b) DISABLEMENT BENEFIT

Eligibility: Partial or total loss of any physical or mental faculty as a result of a job-related accident or disease.

Waiting Period: Period of Injury benefit.

Amount Of Benefit: The payment of a pension or a grant is based on the percentage loss of faculty suffered.

- of disability is paid;
- at 25% 66%, and \$1,000 for disablement assessed at greater than 66%.
- allowance of 20% of the disablement benefit shall also be paid.

DEATH BENEFIT (c)

Eligibility: Dependants are defined as for survivors' benefit.

Amount Of Benefit: Proportion of disablement pension, the same percentage as for Survivors benefit.

INDUSTRIAL FUNERAL BENEFIT (d)

Eligibility: Death was due to an accident arising out of and in the course of employment

Amount Of Benefit: \$1,500.

MEDICAL CARE (e)

Eligibility: Insured suffers injury or illness arising out of and in the course of employment.

Expenses Covered: Reasonable expenses for doctor's fees, medication, hospitalisation, travelling and constant care and other specified costs incurred as a result of an employment injury or prescribed disease.

Duration: 40 weeks from the date of injury unless the degree of disablement is greater than 25% in which case it is payable for 2 years from the date of injury. This may be extended at the discretion of the Director.

• If degree of disablement is less than 25%, a grant equal to 100 times the percentage degree

• If degree of disablement is 25% or more a benefit equal to the percentage loss of faculty times the rate of injury benefit is paid. A grant of \$500 is also paid for disablement assessed

• If degree of disablement is 100% and the insured requires constant care and attendance, an

Amount Of Grant: Lump sum of \$400.00

(d) FUNERAL BENEFIT

Eligibility: Death of an insured person, other than as a result of an employment-related accident, or the deceased is the spouse of an insured. The insured person must have paid at least 50 contributions.

Amount Of Benefit: \$1,500

SICKNESS ASSISTANCE (e)

Eligibility Requirements: Gainfully employed in the contribution year or the 52 week period preceding incapacity but fails to qualify for Sickness benefit and meets the means test.

Waiting Period: 3 days.

Amount Of Benefit: \$53.08 per week.

Duration Of Benefit: 26 weeks in any continuous period that may be extended to 40 weeks subject to

approval of the Medical Officer. Any two or more periods of incapacity separated by not more than

eight weeks shall be treated as a continuous period of incapacity.

A.2.3. INDUSTRIAL BENEFITS

INJURY BENEFIT (a)

Eligibility: Incapable of work as a result of an accident arising out of insured employment, or as a result of an illness related to employment. There are no qualifying contribution requirements for Injury benefits.

Waiting Period: 3 days.

Amount Of Benefit: 66 2/3% of average insurable earnings in the 26 weeks before the accident or disease occurred.

Duration Of Benefit: Maximum 40 weeks.

Chapter 2 Assessment Of Performance & System Design

2.1 Historical Performance, 1974 – 2006

Social security systems have long-term horizons - workers may contribute for over 40 years and then receive pensions for over 30 years. Therefore, an assessment of performance should not be limited to one or two years, but instead entail a review of experience over a long period and an understanding of why changes over shorter periods have occurred. Also, some experience factors can act as leading indicators, thus assisting with identifying potential future short-term performance before it actually occurs. Experience for key financial factors from 1975 to 2006 is presented in the following charts:

Figure 2.1. National Insurance Experience





As a social security system matures it is generally expected that expenditure will grow at a faster pace than contribution income and that there would be a gradual deterioration in relative funding levels if the contribution rate is not increased. As shown above expenditure has generally increased while the contribution rate has remained unchanged resulting in the expenditure rate exceeding the average contribution rate in all but one year since 1991. There are two main factors that drive current expenditure - the number of pensioners per 100 contributors or the demographic ratio, and the average pension compared with the average insurable wage or the replacement ratio. Both of these ratios have been gradually increasing.

Funding levels, as measured by the size of reserves relative to annual expenditure, have remained at just under nine for the past fifteen years, with a noticeable decrease in the past two years.

Also shown above is the gradual decline in yield on reserves, a pattern that is consistent with decreasing prevailing interest rates in the economy, but also due to the limited investment opportunities available for the growing National Insurance Fund. Administrative costs as a percentage of insurable wages declined gradually between 1997 and 2003 but there has been a marked reversal of this downward trend in the last few years.

Following are values for several key indicators as of the dates of the 7th and 8th Actuarial Reviews along with a brief analysis of the changes that have occurred.

 Table 2.1. National Insurance Performance Indicators

	2001	2006	Comments
1. Avg. Contribution Rate	8.4%	8.4%	Rates not adjusted since inception.
2. Expenditure Rate	8.8%	9.2%	Gradual increase expected. Expenditure has exceeded contributions in all but one year since 1991.
3. Benefits as % of GDP	1.8%	1.9%	Gradual increase expected.
4. Reserve-Expenditure Ratio	8.9	8.7	Gradual decrease expected.
5. 3-year average yield on reserves	6.3%	5.3%	Returns on investments have gradually declined in recent years.
6. 3-year average real yield on reserves (net of inflation)	4.8%	3.7%	Inflation higher and returns lower in 2004 to 2006 than during 1999 to 2001.
 7. Administrative Expenses as: % of Contribution Income % of Insurable Wages 	19% 1.6%	25% 2.0%	Very high. 2006 costs slightly higher due to the VERP.
8. # of Contributors Per Pensioner	5.2	5.3	Gradual decline expected but number of contributors has increased faster than pensioners in last few years.
9. Average Pension as % of Average Insurable Wage	22%	24%	Gradual increase expected.

Other than for administrative costs and investments returns, National Insurance demographic and financial experience has been generally in line with expectations.

2.2 Design & Policy Indicators

National Insurance systems have wide-ranging objectives such as the provision of adequate income coverage for all workers which lead to the provision of adequate lifetime pensions for the retired, invalid and survivors of insured persons. Given that the National Insurance system has a large pool

CARICOM Agreement On Social Security

Some former contributors with fewer contributions than required for Retirement, Invalidity and Survivors pensions may qualify for a pension under the CARICOM Agreement on Social Security based on the total number of contributions made in participating countries.

A.2.2. SHORT-TERM BENEFITS

(a) SICKNESS BENEFIT

Contribution Requirements: At least 40 paid weekly contributions plus one of:

- (i) at least 13 contributions in the 26 weeks preceding sickness,
- (ii) at least 26 contributions in the last 52 weeks,
- (iii) at least 26 contributions in the preceding contribution year.

Waiting Period: 3 days.

Amount Of Benefit: 60% of average weekly insurable earnings during the applicable qualifying period used above, subject to a minimum of \$62.31 per week.

Duration Of Benefit: 26 weeks in any continuous period that may be extended to 40 weeks subject to approval of the Medical Officer. Any two or more periods of incapacity separated by not more than eight weeks shall be treated as a continuous period of incapacity.

(b) MATERNITY BENEFIT

Contribution Requirement: At least 50 paid weekly contributions plus one of:

- (i) at least 26 contributions in the 40 weeks prior to commencement of benefit,
- (ii) at least 26 contributions in the preceding contribution year.

Amount Of Benefit: 66 2/3% of average weekly insurable earnings during the applicable qualifying period used above, subject to a minimum of \$62.31 per week.

Duration Of Benefit: 13 weeks, starting no earlier than 6 weeks before the expected date of confinement. This may be extended by up to 2 weeks if confinement is delayed.

(c) MATERNITY GRANT

Contribution Requirement: At least 50 paid contributions. Where the mother fails to meet these requirements the grant will be paid if her spouse meets the contribution requirement.

as prior to commencement of benefit, ng contribution year.

SURVIVORS BENEFIT (e)

Eligibility Requirements: The deceased, at time of death, had paid at least 150 contributions. A widow or widower must have been married to the deceased for at least one year (includes common-law spouse), children must be under 16, 21 if in full-time education, and any age if invalid. Parents need to have been dependent on the deceased.

Amount Of Benefit: The proportion of Retirement/Invalidity benefit shown below:

Widow or widower: 50%;

Children: 10% per child – up to 5 children at any one time, 10 if there is no widow(er); Parents: 50%; Minimum pensions:

Widow(er)/Parent - \$270.00 per month Children - \$110.00 per month Orphans - \$125.00 per month

Duration Of Benefit:

• Widow or widower older than 40 and incapable of economic employment at time of insured's death, or widow or widower who is disabled, or a widow pregnant by her late husband at the time of his death, or a widow who has the care of a child of the deceased: life pension or until the beneficiary is entitled to a larger Retirement or Invalidity pension in his/her own right.

The Survivor's pension will cease upon remarriage or cohabitation;

- Children: payable until age 16, age 21 if receiving fulltime education or training, for life if invalid;
- Parents: payable for life.

SURVIVORS' ASSISSTANCE (f)

Eligibility Requirements: Other than for the contribution requirement of the deceased, the applicant must be eligible for survivors pension.

Amount Of Benefit:

Widow(er) / Parent - \$230.00 per month Children - \$92.00 per month Orphans - \$105.00 per month

of assets which together with future contributions will meet future expenditure, ensuring that these assets realise market rates of return without exposure to excessive risk is also an important objective.

While assessing whether or not these objectives are being met can be somewhat subjective, by setting dollar values to certain key parameters such as the earnings ceiling and minimum pension, or through policy guidance issued to the National Insurance Board, policymakers influence to a large extent how well such objectives are achieved. The following table provides an analysis of a few key design parameters and indicators of coverage, benefit levels and investment prudence, by reviewing current levels and changes between 2001 and 2006.

	Policy	Measured By	2001	2006	Comments
1.	Level of Insurance Coverage	Ratio of Ceiling to Average National Wage	1.0	0.8	Very low. Ceiling not increased since 1999. Almost 40% of contributors have earnings above current ceiling.
2.	Minimum Floor of	Minimum Retirement Pension (at age 65) as a % of Average Insurable Wage	19% 17% Increase in 20 Minimum per of average in: and 100% of		Increase in 2007 brought Minimum pension to 20% of average insurable wage and 100% of the inflation-
	Income Protection	Minimum Age Pension (at age 65) as a % of Poverty Line	96%	87%	adjusted poverty line. Minimum rates currently at acceptable levels.
3. Coverage For All Employed Persons	% of Employed Persons Contributing	82%	85%	Lowest coverage levels among small businesses and construction sector. Late payment of contributions a major challenge.	
		% of Self-employed Persons Contributing	18%	19%	Very low. Also, not all months paid for and low wages often declared.
		% of Assets held in Government Securities	56%	56%	High.
4. Investmen Diversifica	Investment Diversification	% of Assets held in Quasi- Government Securities	13%	19%	Acceptable in isolation but since most backed by government guarantees, combined exposure to public sector very high.
		% of Assets held in short- term deposits	34%	24%	Still very high and should be reduced.
		% of Assets held locally	100%	99%	Very high.

Table 2.2. Assessment of Key Design Parameters & Achievement of Policy Objectives

Chapter 3 Best-Estimate Projections

Many demographic and economic factors, such as changes in the size and age structure of the population, economic growth, employment and wage levels and inflation, influence National Insurance finances. Therefore, to best assess the Fund's long-term sustainability, projections of The Bahamas' total population and the economy are required. For this review 60-year projections have been performed.

In developing all of the assumptions used for the projections, historical trends and reasonable future expectations, as well as the interrelationships between the various assumptions, have been taken into account. Core projections have been performed using assumptions that reflect best estimates. As a result, the set of demographic and financial projection results based on this assumption set is referred to throughout this report as "Best Estimate."

Given the significant uncertainty inherent in forecasting such a long period, projections have also been performed using two additional sets of assumptions. These alternative projection sets, which encompass assumptions that are generally more optimistic and more pessimistic than best-estimate assumptions, are presented in Chapter 4.

Population Projections 3.1

3.1.1 Assumptions

Projections of The Bahamas' population begin with the results of the 2000 census and in each projection year thereafter, fertility, mortality and migration assumptions are applied. Fertility rates are used to estimate the number of births each year while mortality rates determine how many, and at what ages, people are expected to die. Net migration represents the difference between the number of persons who permanently enter and leave The Bahamas and is the most volatile of the three factors. The 2000 population census placed The Bahamas' population at 303,611.

The total fertility rate (TFR) represents the average number of live births per female of childbearing age in a particular year. If there is no migration, a TFR of 2.1 is required for each generation to replace itself. The Bahamas TFR is estimated at just under 2.0 in 2006. For these projections it is assumed that TFR's in The Bahamas will remain below replacement level, falling to an ultimate rate of 1.75 in 2020.

Using mortality rates from The Bahamas Abridged Life Tables, 1999-2001, current population estimates and the number of deaths in the past few years suggest life expectancy at birth in 2006 of around 71 for males and 77 for females. While further improvements in life expectancy are expected, the prevalence of HIV and AIDS may retard the rate of previously expected improvements. Improvements in mortality are assumed to occur in accordance with UN estimates.

The amount of benefit is reduced by 4% for each year that the insured is less than 65.

Maximum Pension: 60% of adjusted average monthly earnings over the best three years.

Minimum Pension: \$270.00 per month. (\$250 if awarded at age 60)

Initial Contribution Credits: Persons over age 35 in October 1974 who made at least 150 contributions in the programme's first 3 years were awarded special credits at the rate of 25 contributions for each year their age exceeded 35, subject to a maximum of 600 credits.

(b) OLD AGE NON-CONTRIBUTORY PENSION

Eligibility: Age 65, insufficient credits to qualify for Retirement benefit, Bahamian citizen or resident in the Bahamas as an employed or self-employed person for at least 12 months in the 15 years immediately before claiming, and has a share of household income of less than \$53.08 per week.

Amount Of Assistance: \$230.00 per month.

INVALIDITY BENEFIT (c)

Eligibility Requirements: The applicant must have paid at least 150 weekly contributions and be:

- (i) Less than 65;

Amount Of Benefit: Calculated in the same manner as for Retirement benefit without applying a reduction factor for payment before age 65.

Maximum Pension: 60% of adjusted average earnings over the best three years.

Minimum Pension: \$270.00 per month.

INVALIDITY ASSISSTANCE (d)

Eligibility Requirements: The applicant must: (i) have insufficient credits to qualify for Invalidity benefit;

(ii) be less than 65;

(iii) be medically declared an invalid, other than as a result of an employment injury.

Amount of Benefit: \$230.00 per month.

(ii) Incapable of work as a result of a specified disease or bodily or mental disablement, otherwise than as a result of an employment injury, which is likely to remain permanent.

For pensionable Bahamas Government employees, the ceiling for long-term benefits (pensions) is \$110 per week.

Contributions are computed as a percentage of insurable earnings. The contribution rates for all categories of contributors are shown below:

Employee Type		Employee	Employer	Total
Private & non-Pension: Servants	able Civil	3.4%	5.4%	8.8%
Pensionable Civil Servants	Wages <=110 > 110	3.4% 1.7%	5.4% 2.55%	8.8% 4.25%
Self-employed A				6.8%
Self-employed B				8.8%
Voluntary				5.0%
Summer Students & Persons in receipt of Retirement Benefit			2.0%	2.0%

Qualifying Conditions & Benefit Rates A.2

A.2.1 LONG-TERM BENEFITS

RETIREMENT BENEFIT (a)

Eligibility Requirements: The applicant must be age 65 or older and have paid at least 150 weekly contributions. A reduced pension is payable beginning from age 60.

Amount Of Benefit: A percentage of average insurable earnings over the best 3 years in the last 10. The applicable percentages are:

150 – 199 contributions	15%
200-249 contributions	17%
250-749 contributions	20% + 2% for each set of 50 above 250
750 or more contributions	40% + 1% for each set of 50 above 750

Average insurable earnings are determined by taking the average of the wages in the three years with highest weekly average insurable wages. If this average exceeds \$250 per week, the excess is reduced by 25%.

The economic assumptions used for this report assume stable and positive economic growth and labour productivity in all years. Although simplistic, they approximate usual economic cycles and volatility that encompass periods of expansion and recession. They also account for projected changes in the population and labour force that will provide the capacity for additional output through more workers and increased productivity (real wages).

The following table indicates the principal demographic and economic best-estimate assumptions. Further details may be found in Appendix B.

Table 3.1. Principal Demographic & Economic Assumptions

Ultimate Total Fertility Rate (from 2.0 in 2000)		1.75
Mortality Improvements^		Slow
Net In-Migration Per Annum		500 in all years
	Short-term	3.10%
Real GDP Growth Rates	Medterm	2.50%
	Long-term	1.25%
Real Increase in Wages		1.0%
Inflation		2.75%

^ UN mortality improvement rates

3.1.2 **Projection Results**

From the 2000 Census population of 303,611, The Bahamas' population is projected to increase to close to 430,000 in the mid-2050's, declining slightly thereafter. While projected future population size is important, the age distribution of the population is more critical for National Insurance, as pensions to the elderly represent the bulk of expenditure. For the projections under these bestestimate assumptions, the anticipated ageing pattern is highlighted in the last column of Table 3.2 which shows the ratio of the number of working-age people for each person of pension age, which is projected to decrease from 10.5 in 2006 to 2.5 in 2066. The inverse of this ratio is the number of pension age persons to working age persons in the population, which is projected to increase from 0.1 to 0.4.

The projected ageing of The Bahamas' population is also illustrated in Figure 3.1 through the use of population pyramids. In 2006 (left chart) the decreasing number of births in the last 15 years is evidenced by shorter bars for the three 5-year age groups below age 15. The current population may still be considered relatively young, however, with very few persons in the 5-year groups above age 45. In 2066 (right chart), it is expected that the number of people in 5-year age groups among pensioners will be larger than among the three youth age groups. The median age of the population is projected to increase from 31 in 2006 to 44 in 2066.

	,	-	•		
Year	Total	Age 0 - 15	Age 16 - 64	Age 65 & over	Ratio of Persons 16-64 To 65 & Over
2000		05.4.44		15 0 10	10.0
2000	303,611	95,146	192,617	15,848	12.2
2006	328,591	93,295	214,801	20,495	10.5
2011	347,564	87,854	234,729	24,981	9.4
2016	364,967	84,485	250,043	30,439	8.2
2021	380,840	83,353	259,662	37,825	6.9
2026	395,367	83,005	264,395	47,967	5.5
2031	407,707	82,689	265,387	59,631	4.5
2036	417,151	81,669	265,984	69,498	3.8
2046	427,398	77,139	267,943	82,316	3.3
2056	428,878	74,636	261,767	92,476	2.8
2066	424,697	72,947	250,395	101,356	2.5

Table 3.2. Projected Bahamas Population (Best-Estimate scenario)

Figure 3.1 Population Pyramids, 2006 and 2066





Appendix A Summary of Contribution & Benefit Provisions

Benefits, Insured Persons & Contribution Rates A.1

The National Insurance Board began operations in October 1974 and as of December 2006, provided the following benefits:

- (a) Long-term contributory benefits: Retirement, Invalidity and Survivors' benefits.
- (c) *Short-term benefits:* Sickness benefit, Maternity benefit & grant, Funeral benefit.
- (d) *Short-term assistance:* Sickness assistance.
- and Industrial Funeral benefit.

Insured Persons

Employed, self-employed and voluntary insured persons aged 16 and over are covered for the above contingencies as follows:

- **Employed persons:** All contingencies.
- Self-employed persons:
 - Category A All contingencies except Industrial benefits;
- Voluntary insured persons: Retirement, Invalidity, Funeral and Survivors' benefits.

Employed persons who are in receipt of Retirement benefit are covered for Industrial benefits only.

Insurable Earnings & Contributions

Earnings used for determining contributions and benefits are limited to \$400 per week or \$1,733 per month. Earnings include basic wages and pay in lieu of notice but exclude bonuses, overtime and tips.

The ceilings on insurable wages since 1974 are:

1974 to 1984	\$ 110.0
1984 to 1998	\$ 250.0
1999 to present	\$ 400.0

(b) Long-term assistance: Old Age Non-contributory pension, Invalidity and Survivors' assistance.

(e) Industrial benefits: Injury benefit, Disablement benefit, Medical Care, Industrial Death benefit

• Category B – All contingencies. This group includes licensed drivers whose vehicle is for hire, licensed fruit/straw/vegetable vendors and share fishermen who own their boats.

0 per week

00 per week

00 per week

References

7 th Actuarial Review of The National Insurance Fund
Bahamas Living Conditions Survey - 2001, Department of Statistics, 2004
Better Social Security For Bahamians, Social Security Reform Commission, 2005
Labour Force & Household Income Reports, 2001 to 2005, Department of Statistics
Life Table Report, 1999-2001, Department of Statistics
National Insurance Act & Regulations
National Insurance Fund Financial Statements – 1975 to 2006
Public Sector Governance Better Practice Guide, Australia National Audit Office
Report Of The 2000 Census Of Population & Housing, Department of Statistics, 2002
State of National Insurance in The CARICOM Single Market & Economy, Derek Osborne, 2005
Workforce Planning Report, HayGroup, July 2003

National Insurance Projections 3.2

Building on the population and economic projections presented in the previous section, National Insurance demographic and financial projections have been modelled under best-estimate assumptions. These projections encompass several National Insurance specific assumptions, the contribution and benefit provisions in place on January 1, 2007 and the pension increases that occurred in March 2007. While increases to the contribution ceiling and pensions in payment are not legislated, periodic adjustments are expected, and thus have been assumed.

3.2.1 Assumptions

Key National Insurance assumptions are shown below.

Table 3.3. National Insurance Best Estimate Assumptions

Avg. Contribution Rate*	8.43% in all years
Insurable Wage Ceiling	Increases to \$600 in 2009 and then annually thereafter by 1% more than the change in the Retail Price Index
Short-term Benefits	Increases from 1.1% to 1.25% of insurable earnings over 60 years
Employment Injury Benefits	Increases from 0.45% to 0.55% of insurable earnings over 60 years
Pension Increases	Annually by the change in the Retail Price Index beginning January 2009
Long-term Yield on Reserves	5.0%
Admin. Expenses as a % of Insurable Wages	Decrease from 1.25% to 1.0% over 20 years
Other Expenses	0.08% of insurable earnings
New Assistance Pensions	75 females and 50 males per annum

*Pensionable civil servants contribution at a lower rate on wages above \$110 per week

With these assumptions it is being assumed that the ceiling will be increased soon, and then thereafter, the prevailing level of coverage and income security made possible by the wage ceiling and the minimum pension will be generally maintained throughout the projection period.

3.2.2 **Projection Results**

For accounting purposes, National Insurance finances are separated into the Short-term, Industrial, Long-term Benefit Branches and Medical Branch. However, provisions exist for transferring reserves between branches and changing income allocations. Therefore, shortfalls in one branch may be met from surplus reserves of another. For this report, the projections for all branches have been consolidated so that the complete financial picture may be shown. The December 2006 reserve total is \$1.415 billion.

The charts in Figure 3.2 highlight the key projection results of the Best Estimate scenario assuming that the contribution rate is not increased and that there are no changes to benefit rules.





The key results of these projections are summarised as follows:

- 1. Reserves are projected to continue growing through 2022 reaching \$2.6 billion. At this point, total expenditure will exceed total income for the first time and unless the contribution rate is increased, assets will have to be sold each year to meet expenditure.
- 2. Reserves are projected to be exhausted in 2032.
- 3. While actual reserves will increase for many more years, the size of these reserves relative to annual expenditure (reserve-expenditure ratio) will gradually decline.
- 4. Annual expenditure relative to total insurable wages is commonly referred to as the pay-as-yougo rate. This rate is projected to increase to just over 28% at the end of the projection period.
- 5. The general average premium, or the average level contribution rate required over the next 60 years to fully cover total expenditure during that period is 17.0%
- 6. While the number of pensioners is projected to more than quadruple over the 60-year projection period, reaching around 115,000, the number of insured persons will only increase by 35%. The number of contributors for each pensioner is expected to fall from 4.7 in 2006 to 1.5 in 2066.

Statement of Actuarial Opinion

It is my opinion that for this report of the 8th Actuarial Review of the National Insurance Fund: • the data on which the projections and analysis are based are sufficient and reliable; • the assumptions used are, in the aggregate, reasonable and appropriate, and • the methodology employed is appropriate and consistent with sound actuarial principles.

This report has been prepared in accordance with the International Actuarial Association Guidelines of Actuarial Practice For National Insurance Programs.

Derek M. Osborne, FSA Consultant Actuary

these new benefits may produce, further jeopardising the sustainability of National Insurance pensions.

In many respects the approach to financing and administering health benefits is different from those of pensions.

- 1. Pensions are usually pre-funded whereas health benefits are financed on a pay-as-you-go basis. Therefore it is very important for health benefits that contributions be received on time so that benefits or reimbursements to providers can be paid on time.
- 2. Health benefit expenditure may fluctuate widely and so contribution rate changes may be needed at very short notice. This is not the case for pensions as the large reserve funds can be called upon if cash flow shortfalls arise.
- 3. Extraordinary events such as natural disasters or epidemics could result in a sharp and unexpected increase in health care costs for which reserves on hand are not able to satisfy.
- 4. Health benefits involve many more claims and the need for relationships with many more health care providers. Therefore, new skill sets such as contract negotiation and new IT systems will be required.
- 5. Quicker decision making is required in the administration of health benefits than for pensions where the impact of changes or failure to make changes may take years to be noticed.
- 6. For a health fund to be viable, administrative costs per claim, or as a percent of contributions, will have to be much lower than current NIB cost ratios.

With the above in mind, the following general recommendations are made if the NIB is to administer and/or finance new benefits:

- A significant improvement in the timeliness of contribution payments is required.
- All new benefits should be financed by an increase in the NIB contribution rate or a separate, self-sustaining contribution.
- A separate fund (or funds) should be created for any new benefit(s) that are introduced.
- A proper allocation of administrative costs should be made, not simply a charge for incremental costs that emerge. That is, the National Insurance Fund should in no way subsidise the administration of a health fund.

Finally, the need to increase the contribution rate for National Insurance benefits must not be overlooked. The introduction of a new contribution that is shared by workers and their employers could limit the possibility of implementing a rate increase designed to strengthen the National Insurance Fund.

Numerical details of the financial and demographic projections for the *Best Estimate* scenario are provided in Tables 3.4 to 3.6.

Table 3.4. Projected Income, Expenditure & Reserves - Best Estimate (millions of \$'s)

		Cash Inf	lows			Cash O	utflows			Re	eserves
Year	Contribution Income	Investment Income	Other Income	Total	Benefits	Admin. Expenses	Other Expenses	Total	Surplus/ (Deficit)	End of Year	# of times current year's expenditure
2006	149.0	71.6	5.1	225.7	124.8	36.0	1.2	162.1	63.6	1,415	8.7
2007	159.8	70.6	5.0	235.4	138.4	31.0	1.5	170.9	64.5	1,480	8.7
2008	165.7	73.8	5.0	244.5	146.5	31.0	1.6	179.1	65.4	1,545	8.6
2009	211.8	77.8	5.0	294.6	162.3	31.4	2.0	195.7	98.9	1,644	8.4
2010	225.5	82.7	5.0	313.2	174.2	32.8	2.1	209.1	104.1	1,748	8.4
2011	237.1	87.9	5.0	329.9	187.7	33.7	2.2	223.7	106.3	1,854	8.3
2012	249.1	93.0	5.0	347.2	204.0	34.7	2.4	241.0	106.1	1,961	8.1
2016	302.6	112.4	5.0	420.0	291.1	38.6	2.9	332.6	87.4	2,348	7.1
2026	463.0	106.0	5.0	573.9	698.7	54.9	4.4	758.0	(184.1)	2,078	2.7
2036	666.7	(153.8)	5.0	517.9	1,418.3	79.1	6.3	1,503.7	(985.8)	(3,650)	(2.4)
2046	944.8	(975.2)	5.0	(25.4)	2,387.1	112.1	9.0	2,508.1	(2,533.5)	(21,268)	(8.5)
2056	1,303.9	(2,863.5)	5.0	(1,554.6)	3,829.3	154.7	12.4	3,996.3	(5,550.9)	(61,494)	(15.4)
2066	1,801.4	(6,803.6)	5.0	(4,997.2)	5,835.2	213.7	17.1	6,065.9	(11,063.2)	(145,029)	(23.9)

Table 3.5. Projected Benefit Expenditure - Best Estimate (millions of \$'s)

	Pensions, Grants & Benefits						Benefits as	a % of:
Year	Retirement	Invalidity	Survivors	Assistance Pensions	Short-term	Industrial	Insurable Wages	GDP
2006	57.9	9.2	10.8	15.0	20.5	11.4	7.1%	1.9%
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011	67.3 73.2 80.1 88.0 97.3	9.9 10.3 10.7 11.3 12.1	12.0 13.1 14.1 15.3 16.5	16.0 14.9 14.5 14.1 13.9	21.3 22.2 27.8 29.6 31.2	12.0 12.9 15.1 15.8 16.8	7.3% 7.5% 6.5% 6.5% 6.7%	2.0% 2.0% 2.1% 2.2% 2.2%
2012	108.8	13.0	17.8	13.7	32.9	17.8	6.9%	2.3%
2016 2026 2036	173.7 504.2 1,114.6	18.0 37.5 64.7	23.2 40.7 68.5	13.5 14.0 15.0	40.3 63.1 92.8	22.5 38.2 59.7	8.1% 12.7% 17.9%	2.7% 4.2% 5.9%
2046 2056 2066	1,927.8 3,152.3 4,874.7	101.9 157.2 222.5	111.8 173.2 251.9	17.9 21.2 25.4	134.4 189.4 267.1	89.8 131.8 187.7	21.3% 24.8% 27.3%	7.1% 8.1% 8.8%

Negative reserves indicate the indebtedness of the Fund and negative investment income is the current cost of servicing that debt.

	# of		#	Total # of	Ratio of			
Year	Contributors	Retirement	Invalidity	Survivors	Assistance	Death & Disablement	Pensioners	Contributors to Pensioners
2006	134,112	13,896	2,090	6,092	5,940	573	28,591	4.7
2007	137,140	14,487	2,124	6,332	5,794	586	29,322	4.7
2008	141,280	15,137	2,164	6,603	5,416	598	29,919	4.7
2009	145,581	15,882	2,217	6,851	5,114	614	30,678	4.7
2010	150,015	16,685	2,284	7,095	4,866	633	31,564	4.8
2011	152,569	17,521	2,363	7,311	4,660	655	32,510	4.7
2012	155,069	18,474	2,451	7,480	4,487	678	33,570	4.6
2016	164,621	23,142	2,872	7,779	4,004	783	38,579	4.3
2026	179,614	41,254	4,101	8,438	3,670	1,086	58,549	3.1
2036	181,769	61,616	5,010	9,279	3,487	1,314	80,706	2.3
2046	182,718	74,840	5,567	9,912	3,254	1,455	95,028	1.9
2056	177,929	86,162	6,032	10,379	3,011	1,572	107,157	1.7
2066	170,700	93,748	6,049	10,428	2,811	1,577	114,613	1.5

Table 3.6. Projected Contributors & Pensioners at Year-end - Best Estimate

For National Insurance systems that are partially funded and designed to be perpetual, costs are usually presented in terms of the pay-as-you-go-rate, which represents annual expenditure as a percentage of covered wages. For private pension plans, however, where full funding is the financing objective, there are other measures of the system's cost and, where applicable, financing shortfall, that may be useful for National Insurance policy makers to be aware of.

3.2.3 General Average Premium

The general average premium is the average level contribution rate required over the next 60 years to fully cover total expenditure during that period. This rate may be looked at as the average long-term cost of the complete National Insurance benefits package. For the *Best Estimate* projections, the general average premium is 17.0%, 8.6% higher than the current average contribution rate.

3.2.4 Actuarial Balance

Another measure of the financial sustainability of a National Insurance system is called "actuarial balance." For a given period, the actuarial balance can be defined as the difference between:

- a) the sum of the beginning reserves and the present value of future contributions (money available to meet expenditure), and
- b) the present value of future expenditure,

Under the current accounting approach, Death and Disablement pensions are essentially being fully funded while other (more costly) pensions are only partially funded. Given that reserves can be transferred between branches and changes in contribution allocations can be readily made, there is little value to the approach being used to account for Death and Disablement pensions. It is therefore recommended that the Death and Disablement reserve be eliminated and that the Industrial benefits branch be financed on a pay-as-you-go basis with a contribution allocation that is expected to match expenditure and a reserve level of two to three times annual expenditure.

The recommended changes to the allocation of contribution and transfer of reserves between branches are shown below.

Table 5.4 Recommended Changes to Contribution Allocations & Reserve Transfers

Barrafit Brarrah	Contribution In	come Allocation	Deserve Transfor	
benefit branch	Current	Recommended		
Short-term	1.39%	1.50%	\$15 million from IB Branch	
Industrial	0.72%	0.80%	\$75 million to LTB Branch and \$15 million to STB branch	
Long-term	6.23%	6.04%	\$75 million from IB Branch	
Medical	0.09%	0.09%		
All	8.43%	8.43%		

It should be noted that the change in allocations of contribution income and transfer of reserves between branches has no impact on the overall present or future funded position of the National Insurance Fund. These adjustments are for internal accounting purposes only and are consistent with the manner in which National Insurance has elected to finance and account for the various types of benefits.

5.5 Health And Unemployment Benefits

The possibility of the National Insurance Board adding to its benefits package, or simply administering, health and unemployment benefits has been raised in recent years. In fact, a system of National Health Insurance, for which NIB would have been the primary administrator, was extensively studied over the last few years leading to the passage in Parliament of the National Health Insurance Act. But while the introduction of a comprehensive system that provides health benefits to insured persons no longer appears imminent, a phased approach seems more likely with the first element being a benefit that covers the cost of prescription drugs for persons with noncommunicable chronic illnesses.

Given its infrastructure and administrative capabilities, the National Insurance Board is the most suited public agency to administer any new social security benefit. However, adequate safeguards need to be put in place to protect the National Insurance Fund from potential financial strain that

5.4 Other Issues

5.4.1 Penalty For Late Payment Of Contributions

Only 25% of monthly contributions are paid within the 15 days after the end of the month as permitted by the regulations. This extremely low rate of payments received on time has existed for many years. And while between 80% and 85% of the contributions due are eventually paid, the late payment of contributions has financial implications as interest income is lost, but also it helps foster a culture among employers that NI contributions are not as important as other financial commitments. Three reasons often given for such a higher rate of late payments are the minimal penalty that is applied, interest at the Prime rate, and that interest is not applied consistently to all overdue payments.

It is therefore recommended that a meaningful penalty that would create an incentive for employers and self-employed persons to pay, and to pay on time, be instituted. Two options for penalties are:

- 1. A one-time charge of 10% of the amount applied on the date plus interest of Prime Rate + 2% for each month the contribution remains outstanding.
- 2. A penalty of \$1 per employee for each week the contribution remains unpaid after the due date plus interest of Prime Rate + 2% for each month the contribution remains outstanding.

In addition to harsher penalties for non-payment and late payment of contributions, additional legal measures for dealing with delinquent employers, such as garnishing, should be considered.

5.4.2 Branch Allocations & Transfer of Reserves

At the end of 2006, the Industrial benefits branch was significantly over-funded and the Short-term benefits branch slightly under-funded as shown in the following table. Therefore, reallocations of contribution income and the transfer of reserves between branches are recommended.

Table 5.3 Benefit Branch Reserves Funding and Expenditure Levels

Benefit	Dec. 2006 Reserves	Reserve-E Ra	xpenditure tio	Current Contribution	Projected Annual	
Branch	(millions of \$'s)	2006	Target	Allocation (% of ins wages)	Expenditure (% of ins wages)	
Short-term	9.6	0.4	1 to 2	1.39%	1.5%	
Industrial	119.2	8.2	2 to 3	0.72%	0.8%	

Within the Industrial benefits branch, a separate amount is set aside for the payment of future Death and Disablement pensions. The amount held as of December 2006 was \$20.7 million should reflect the estimated present value of future Death and Disablement pensions for persons on the two pension rolls. Based on the number of pensioners and their average pensions in December 2006, and the present value factors provided in the Financial & Accounting Regulations, the present value of future payments is \$36.0 million.

divided by the present value of future insurable earnings. This formula produces a rate that indicates the adequacy or insufficiency of the present contribution rate for a given period. For the National Insurance Fund, the deficiency expressed in dollars and as a percent of GDP is shown in Table 3.7.

Table 3.7. Actuarial Balance 2007 – 2066 (\$?

	2006 Year-end Reserves
Plus	PV of Future Contributions
linus	PV of Future Expenditure
Equal	PV of Surplus/(Shortfall)
	Actuarial Balance (% of Insurable
	Actuarial Balance (% of GDP)

N

Consistent with previous discussions, the negative actuarial balance indicates that together with reserves, the current contribution rate is insufficient to meet future expenditure for the next 60 years. The shortfall of 7.3% indicates that the contribution rate would have to be increased to 15.7% for the entire period in order for reserves to last up to 2066.

3.3 Comparison With Results Of 7th Actuarial Reviews

The projection results presented above differ in several ways from those of the 7th Actuarial Review. When the base scenarios are compared, this set of population projections suggests a slightly smaller population in the early 2060's. This is due to a slightly lower fertility rate and migration assumptions. Consequently, the National Insurance Fund projections of the Best Estimate scenario show higher costs than under the Intermediate scenario of the 7th Actuarial Review. However, given that these projections assume that the wage ceiling will be increased to \$600 soon, a level higher than assumed in the 7th Actuarial Review, the increase in contribution collections anticipated immediately after the ceiling adjustment, result in improved financials for the short and medium terms. The other assumption which is quite different is the long-term yield on reserves which has been lowered from 5.5% to 5.0%.

3.4 Sensitivity Analysis

Given the extensive set of assumptions required for projecting National Insurance finances and the length of the projection period, future experience will certainly differ from that projected under best estimate assumptions. To illustrate a reasonable range for the Fund's outlook, projections using two different sets of population, economic and National Insurance assumptions are presented in the following chapter. However, certain National Insurance factors such as the yield on reserves, the

•		•		1. \	
Ś	are	ın	mıl	lions)

	1,415
	9,140
	18,423
	(7,868)
Earnings)	(7.3%)
	115%

level of administrative costs and how future Assistance pensions are financed, will also impact the Fund's outlook. The change in long-term costs for differences in these factors is shown in the following table.

Table 3.8 Sensitivity Tests – National Insurance Factors

Assumption	Differs From Best Estimate	General Average Premium
Best Estimate		17.0%
Long-term Yield on Reserves	+0.5%	16.5%
(5.0% assumed)	-0.5%	17.5%
Administrative Costs	1.2%	17.2%
(1.0% of IW assumed after 2017)	0.8%	16.8%
Assistance Pensions	Fully financed by Government	16.7%
(\$4.9 mill. from Gov't each year)	Fully financed by NIB	17.0%

As shown above, the long-term costs of National Insurance benefits could be reduced by a few percentage points if operating costs are reduced more than assumed and yields of reserves are greater than assumed. For Assistance pensions which are now partly financed by Government, a change to a scenario where NIB finances all pensions does not affect long-term costs when expressed as a percentage of insurable wages but instead negatively affects cash flows.

3.5 **Financing Future National Insurance Benefits**

By design, National Insurance pension obligations are only partially funded – that is, assets on hand are not sufficient to meet total liabilities if all payments were due on a particular date. This funding mechanism is considered suitable for national pension systems. With funding levels expected to gradually deteriorate and pay-as-you-go rates projected to increase to around 28%, reforms aimed at reducing long-term costs and increasing the contribution rate should be considered. These changes will serve to reduce the level of contributions that will have to be levied on future generations of workers.

There is no right or wrong time to increase the contribution rate. Instead, factors such as projected short-term finances, investment opportunities and whether or not advanced funding is considered superior to higher contribution rates later should guide this decision. However, adopting explicit funding objectives that could help guide the decision on whether or not to increase the contribution rate may prove beneficial.

Suggested financing and funding objectives for a system that is just over 30 years old are:

5.3 Honest & Responsible Government

"Public sector governance aims to ensure that an organisation achieves its overall outcomes in such a way as to enhance confidence in the organisation, its decisions and its action. Good governance therefore means that the organisation's leadership, its staff, the Government, the Parliament and the population can rely on the organisation to do its work well and with full probity and accountability."

Public Sector Governance Better Practice Guide, Australia National Audit Office

Good governance practices affect all aspects of performance. For many of NIB's 33 years, practices that were not in conformance with the National Insurance Act and general public expectations have led to sub-par outcomes in many areas. Examples of the effects of poor governance practices include:

- Excessive administrative costs,
- Low compliance rates,
- A wage ceiling that has been upgraded only twice in 33 years,
- Pension increases and mass employee hiring that coincide with general elections,
- securities,
- Use of National Insurance funds for purposes other than prescribed in legislation, and
- Failure of boards to continue serving following a change of government.

The National Insurance Board is not a department of Government. Instead, it is a body corporate managed by a Board over which a Minister has parliamentary oversight. As a result, the role of the Minister regarding the affairs of The National Insurance Board is very limited. Since inception, however, Ministers have often exerted greater influence over Board affairs than is provided for by the National Insurance Act.

For the NIB, good governance requires more than just ensuring that the public's funds are responsibly collected, expended and invested. Instead, it requires from all levels of leadership the core governance principles of accountability, transparency/openness, integrity, stewardship, leadership and efficiency. The board is therefore encouraged to establish a framework for good governance so that the NIB can achieve its overall goals in a way that enhances confidence in the organisation, its decisions and its actions.

Two specific amendments to the Act that should also enhance good governance practices are:

- revised so that those directions be limited to issues of policy only.
- and these organisations.

• Three guarters of the National Insurance Fund invested in Government and statutory body

1. Section 7 of the Act that currently permits the Minister to give the Board directions, should be

2. The second schedule of the Act which outlines how members of the Board are selected should be revised to require that those appointed to represent employer and worker organisations must be the nominees of these groups and not just appointed after consultation between the Minister

5.2 Efficient and Accurate Administrative System

For years the National Insurance Board has been plagued with high administrative costs. During the period 2002 to 2006, administrative expenses consumed 21% of contribution income or 1.8% of insurable wages. (See chart in Figure 2.1 for pattern of administrative expenses from 1975 to 2006) When compared with inflation which averaged 2.0% per annum, operating costs, excluding special Voluntary Early Retirement Package (VERP) payment, grew by an average of 6.7% per annum between 2001 and 2006. For a social security system, these costs are excessive and immediate attention aimed at reducing operating expenses is recommended as one means of enhancing longterm sustainability.

The main reason for high operating costs is significant overstaffing which was highlighted in a 2003 assessment of staff levels conducted by an external Human Resources firm. The review concluded that with only minor modifications, the Board could reduce staff by 25% (from 465 to 350) without any significant change in the level of service. It also indicated that an even smaller staff could perform all functions if increased automation of functions was adopted.

In an effort to reduce staff levels which stood at 465 at the end of 2003, the Board introduced a Voluntary Early Retirement Package (VERP) which provided the opportunity for employees who were pensionable (age 55 or at least 30 years of service) to retire with a special lump sum payment plus their accrued pension entitlements. Some 89 employees accepted the VERP. However, extensive hiring in the first half of 2007 has eliminated most of the savings that would otherwise have been realised from the VERP as in July 2007, the staff count stood at 496.

There is no single internationally or regionally accepted benchmark for administrative costs since the amounts to which costs can be easily compared to, contributions, benefits and insurable wages, can change considerably when amendments to key provisions are made. For example, if the target were 12% of contribution income, then an increase in the contribution rate or ceiling would increase contributions and thus lead to an increased limit on operating costs. For NIB, the best expense ratio measure is administrative costs as a percentage of insurable wages, which excludes the impact of the contribution rate but is affected by the level of the wage ceiling.

The following table provides recommended target expense ratios for the next 5 and 10 years on two different wage ceiling scenarios. (One of the recommendations made previously was to increase the ceiling to \$600 per week from the current \$400 per week.) The expense ratio in 2006 excluding VERP costs, was 1.8% of insurable wages.

Table 5.2 Recommended Administrative As % of Insurable Wages

Wage Ceiling	5-Year Target	10-Year Target
\$400 per week	1.5%	1.2%
\$600 per week	1.2%	1.0%

- a) Income from contributions will exceed expenditure for at least the next 10 years;
- b) Total income will exceed total expenditure for the next 20 years.
- years.

The projections presented in earlier sections do not meet any of these targets. In fact, contributions are expected to exceed expenditure only if the wage ceiling is increased to \$600 as recommended elsewhere in this report. It would therefore appear that a contribution rate adjustment that would at least provide increased revenues to meet the first two targets be implemented. An immediate rate increase of 2.0% would ensure that the first two financing goals are achieved while an increase of 2.2% would be needed to have projected reserves of 2.5 times expenditure in 2034.

While an immediate contribution rate increase may be enacted as a means of improving short-term finances and enhancing long-term sustainability, there are significant risks involved with further advanced funding of future benefits. Firstly, generating additional income may provide opportunities for inappropriate investments, the granting of excessive pension adjustments and increases to administrative costs. Also, with increasing annual surpluses, suitable investment vehicles will have to be found. A larger Fund which has difficulty finding investment opportunities could therefore open itself to demands from Government and quasi-government agencies to borrow funds at below market rates. Finally, the recent restructuring of public debt by three Caribbean governments, shows that even government bonds may not be as safe as they were once thought to be. And while current Bahamas government finances appear strong and overall debt levels are within reasonable limits, the primary risk to the National Insurance Fund of further lending to government lies in the possibility of Government not being able to liquidate bonds on or before their maturity dates should funds be needed to meet pension expenditure.

With the above risks and the potential for poor governance practices, a rate increase is not recommended now. Instead, it is recommended that changes aimed at reducing current costs and increasing current revenues be adopted first. The Board should therefore seek to:

- Reduce administrative costs;
- Increase the wage ceiling;
- Increase the percentage of employers and self-employed persons who contribute;
- Introduce harsher penalties for late and/or non-payment of contributions; and
- Implement the changes to benefit provisions suggested in Chapter 5.

c) Reserves of 2 to 3 times annual expenditure in 2034, the year NIB would have existed for 60

• Revise investment guidelines so that new opportunities both locally and abroad may be accessed;

Chapter 4 Alternative Scenarios

Best Estimate projections up to 2066 presented in the previous chapter provide estimates of future National Insurance demographics and finances under best-estimate assumptions. Given the uncertainty in forecasting such a long period, two alternative scenarios that highlight the sensitivity of the results to differences in assumptions regarding future outlook have been performed. These alternative projection sets encompass assumptions that are generally more optimistic and more pessimistic than those of the *Best Estimate* projections. However, since National Insurance long-term financial sustainability will likely be more sensitive to future population growth and economic development than National Insurance specific factors such as compliance rates and operating costs, the basis for the alternative scenarios focus on differences in the projected dependency ratios - population 65 and over to population 16 to 64 or the ratio of retirement-age persons to working-age persons. The scenario which may be considered more optimistic will have fewer retirees per worker and thus is referred to as the *Low Dependency* scenario. Conversely, the more pessimistic scenario will have a larger number of retirees per worker and is referred to as the *High Dependency* scenario.

Following is a summary of the main assumptions for the three projection scenarios. The values for all other assumptions are similar across scenarios.

		Low Dependency	Best Estimate	High Dependency
Ultimate Total (from 2.0 in 2001	Fertility Rate	1.9	1.75	1.6
Mortality Improvements^		Very Slow	Slow	Medium
Net Migration I (In less out)	Per Annum	700 in all years	500 in all years	300 in all years
	Short-term	3.50%	3.10%	2.75%
CDP Growth	Medterm	2.50%	2.25%	2.00%
ODI Olowili	Long-term	1.50%	1.25%	1.00%
Real Increase In Wages (p.a)		1.2%	1.0%	0.8%
Inflation (p.a.)		2.5%	2.75%	3.0%
Adjustments to	Wage Ceiling	Inflation +1%	Inflation +1%	Inflation +1%
Adjustments to Pensions		Inflation	Inflation	Inflation
Collection Of Contributions		+1%	-	-1%
Long-term Yield on Reserves		5.5%	5.0%	4.5%
Admin. Cost as % of Insurable Earnings after 10 years		0.8%	1.0%	1.2%

Table 4.1. Principal Demographic, Economic & National Insurance Assumptions

Issue	Current Approach	Recommended Approach
11. Survivors Benefit - Widow(er)s without children who are working or capable of working	No benefit	Pension for one year.
2. Survivors Benefit - What if also qualify for Retirement or Invalidity benefit?	Only higher of two benefits paid.	Case 1: Where one of two pensioners dies, pay higher of two pensions but at least 60% of combined pensions. Case 2: Where Survivors pensioner now qualifies for Retirement or Invalidity, pay 100% of the larger pension plus 50% of the smaller pension.
13. Assistance Pensions- Means test	Includes applicants share of household income.	Include financial assets (bank account, stocks, bonds etc) and real estate excluding one's residence.
14. Industrial benefits	Only some self-employed eligible. Contribution rates of 6.8% (ineligible) and 8.8% (eligible.)	All self-employed eligible with additional requirement that contributions are up-to-date when accident occurred. Contribution rate of 8.8% for all.
15. Sickness, Maternity & Injury Benefit	Benefit paid irrespective of what employer pays.	Benefits should only be paid if wages lost and only to the extent of such loss up to the maximum amount payable.

Impact of recommended changes

It is not possible to determine with certainty the immediate change in the number of pensioners and average pensions if the income test for Retirement pension were removed and persons were allowed to receive both Retirement and Survivors pensions. Therefore, an estimate of the financial impact of these and all other changes described above has been made using the *Best Estimate* assumption set. The net effect of these changes is a reduction in long-term costs with the general average premium falling from 17.0% to 15.2% and the estimated pay-as-you-go rate in 2066 being 25.2% instead of 28.4%. Therefore, even though the changes above include some additional pension costs, the overall net effect of the combined changes would enhance long-term sustainability.

^ UN mortality improvement rates

Table 5.1 Schedule of	of Suggested	Design	Changes
-----------------------	--------------	--------	---------

	Issue	Current Approach	Recommended Approach
1.	Adjustment of Wage Ceiling, Pensions and Grants	Ad hoc. Government decides the timing and the magnitude of adjustments. Amendments to regulations which are passed by Parliament, needed for all changes.	Annual adjustments based on changes in Retail Price Index with appropriate safeguards to protect the Fund during high inflationary periods.
2.	Wages Covered - All Workers	Base wages from primary employer up to wage ceiling.	Include wages from all employers up to the wage ceiling.
3.	Wages Covered - Hospitality Sector Workers	Base wages only.	Include tips and gratuities that are formally paid.
4.	Wages Covered - Pensionable Civil Servants	Wage ceiling of \$110 per week for pensions.	Same wage ceiling as for private sector workers with a career- earnings formula used for pensions so that pension commensurate with past contributions.
5.	Retirement Benefit – Contribution Requirement	150 weeks	500 weeks
6.	Retirement Benefit - Reference Period for Wages	Best 3 in last 10 years	Best 5 years
7.	Retirement Benefit - Pattern of Accrual rates	15% after 3 years, 20% after 5 years, 2% for each year between 5 and 15, 1% after 15 years, maximum 60%.	25% after 10 years, 1.25% for each year thereafter, maximum 60%
8.	Retirement Benefit - Adjustment For Higher Wage Earners	75% of wages above \$250 p.w.	75% of wages above \$400 p.w. (if ceiling increased to \$600)
9.	Retirement Benefit - Payable If Still Employed	Not paid if less than age 70 and wages more than 50% of wage ceiling.	Yes, once 60 or older regardless of income
10.	Retirement Benefit - Reduction for early payment	4% per year before age 65	¹ / ₂ % per month before age 65

The main population and National Insurance demographic and financial results of the three projection sets are presented in Figure 4.1 and Table 4.2. As expected, the outlook for National Insurance finances is closely linked to the size and age distribution of the general population and National Insurance performance indicators such as contribution collection rates, yield on investments and administrative costs.







----High Dep -----Best Estimate -----Low Dep

Table 4.2 Summary Results – All Scenarios

	Low Dependency	Best Estimate	High Dependency
Expenditure First Exceeds Total Income	2024	2022	2019
Reserves Depleted	2035	2032	2029
General Average Premium	15.2%	17.0%	19.0%
Pay-as-you-go rate in 2036	17.6%	19.0%	20.9%
Pay-as-you-go rate in 2066	24.8%	28.4%	32.2%
# of Contributors per pensioner – 2066	1.7	1.5	1.3
Actuarial Balance (% of Ins. Earnings)	(5.4%)	(7.3%)	(9.4%)
Actuarial Balance (% of GDP)	(82%)	(121%)	(172%)

The recommendations related to benefit redesign are summarised below:

- change.
- thereafter, up to the unchanged maximum of 60%.
- by deliberately declaring larger earnings in the years just prior to retirement.
- 75% of wages above \$250 per week.
- pension is claimed before age 65.
- but at least 60% of the combined pensions when both persons were alive.
- pension, pay a Survivors pension for one year.
- at 8.8%.
- the maximum benefit payable.

The following table provides a list of the benefit provisions for which change is recommended and shows the current and recommended rules for each.

1. Contribution requirement for Retirement benefit be increased from 150 weeks to 500 weeks. As recommended by the SSRC, this requirement should be immediate for persons whose first contribution is made after the change but gradual for those who made contributions prior to the

2. Revise the pattern of accrual rates for pension calculations to one that provides 25% replacement after 10 years of contributions and 1.25% for each set of 50 contributions

3. When calculating Retirement benefit, average the best 5 years of insurable wages instead of the best 3 years of insurable wages. This will create a small improvement in the relationship between contributions and benefits and reduce the magnitude of pension increase that could be achieved

4. If the ceiling is increased to \$600 as recommended, revise the adjustment for the calculation of insurable wages to be used for pension purposes to use 75% of wages above \$400 instead of

5. Remove the income test applied to those who continue to work and receive Retirement pension.

6. Increase the reduction factors from 4% per year to 1/2% for each month that the Retirement

7. For persons who because of their age may be entitled to Retirement benefit and because of the death of their spouse may be entitled to a Survivors pension, pay the higher of the two pensions

8. For widows and widower who because of their age do not currently qualify for a survivors

9. All self-employed persons should be eligible to industrial benefits with the contribution rate set

10. For Assistance pensions, include financial assets and real estate excluding one's residence, in determining whether or not the applicant should qualify for a non-contributory pension.

11. Sickness, Injury and Maternity benefits should only be paid if the employee actually faces a loss of income while off from work and the benefit amount should be the amount of the loss up to If implemented, the contribution rate for all self-employed persons should be set at 8.8%.

Means Test For Assistance Pensions

Elderly, invalid and widowed residents who do not qualify for a Retirement, Invalidity or Survivors benefit may qualify for an assistance pension if they are deemed to be in need of financial assistance. Although the number of people receiving non-contributory or assistance pensions has been declining gradually, the number of new cases still exceeds what would reasonably be expected given that National Insurance has existed for almost 33 years and that only three years of contributions are required for a Retirement pension. Poor compliance among self-employed is perhaps the main reason for new persons qualifying for these pensions.

Another factor that affects the number of new cases is the test of resources and the lack of consistency of its application. In determining the eligibility of an adult to a non-contributory pension, the applicants' share of household income is assessed. While several administrative challenges are encountered in applying this test of resources, it is quite possible that persons who may be "asset rich" but "income poor" may qualify for the non-contributory pension. It is therefore recommended that the test of resources be revised to include financial assets and real estate other than one's residence. Should such assets exceed five times the annual pension, the application for the Assistance should be declined ...

Sickness, Maternity & Injury Benefits

One generally accepted social security principle is that benefits should replace lost income. However, to reduce the administrative effort required to verify that income has in fact been lost, some benefits are paid using a principle of presumed loss of income. At NIB, both approaches exist:-

- To receive Invalidity benefit, one must have no employment income while for Retirement benefit, employment income must be below a certain amount if the pensioner is under age 70.
- For Sickness, Maternity and Injury benefits, however, benefits are paid without any verification of whether wages have in fact been reduced when off from work.

Some employers, including the Bahamas Government, pay full wages when the employee is in receipt of Sickness, Maternity and Injury benefits. From the National Insurance Fund's perspective these are payments that need not be made as the employee has not suffered any financial loss. Therefore, it is recommended that NIB award Sickness, Maternity and Injury benefits only to persons who have reduced wages and the amount paid be the extent of the loss up to the maximum payable based on the person's insurable wage.

Implementing this income test may be administratively difficult given that there are more than 27,000 of these claims each year. A different approach to how these claims are made and paid as well as the inclusion of the employer in the claim and payment processes will be required.

Chapter 5 Social Security Reform

Following the tabling in Parliament of the report of the 7th Actuarial Review in 2003, the Government established the Social Security Reform Commission (SSRC). The SSRC's mandate was to review the findings and recommendations of the 7th Review and recommend ways to Government of enhancing the Bahamas' primary social security system. Although the report of the SSRC entitled "Better Social Security For Bahamians" was accepted by Government in April 2007, the report has not been made public and no amendments emanating from it have been made.

The SSRC's recommendations for change were separated into four categories:

- are fair and relevant in prevailing socio-economic conditions.
- expanding benefit coverage where gaps currently exist.
- contribution rate that would otherwise be required by future generations.

Many of these recommendations were similar to those of the 7th Actuarial Review. The author of this report supports most of the SSRC's recommendations which were adopted after extensive discussions with stakeholder groups and a wide cross-section of residents. And since no contribution or benefit amendments emanating from the 7th Actuarial Review and the SSRC report have been made, many of the recommendations in these two reports are repeated in this report.

It is important that governments consider and act upon the recommendations made in periodic actuarial reviews as population and socio-economic changes lead to new social and financial challenges to which National Insurance should respond. And with financial sustainability being a major concern, changes aimed at reducing long-term costs should be made sooner rather than later, as such changes often take several years before any noticeable financial impact is realised.

The ability of any social security system to remain meaningful to insured persons, yet affordable to future generations, is dependent on the following four ingredients:

- 1. Healthy and growing economy,
- 2. A well designed system,
- 3. Effective and efficient administrative system, and
- 4. Honest and responsible government.

Although policymakers have limited control over future economic patterns, an economy in which employment levels and real wages are rising will contribute positively to long-term sustainability of the National Insurance Fund. The three other ingredients over which the Government, Board and management have more influence are discussed in the following sections.

1. Equity and Relevance – changes aimed at ensuring that contribution and benefit provisions

2. Broadening The Scope - changes aimed at ensuring adequate protection of income and

3. Enhancing Operations - reducing administrative costs and improving overall performance.

4. Improving Financial Sustainability - extending the life of reserves and reducing the

5.1 A Well Designed System

Paramount to the future viability of the National Insurance Fund is a system where together, coverage, contribution and benefit rules provide adequate protection from income loss for current and former workers with the prospect of affordable contributions for future generations. While the initial design of the National Insurance system has provided reasonable protection for over 30 years, population, social and economic changes, along with increased administrative capabilities of the Board, warrant changes that will enhance the adequacy, reasonableness and sustainability of the system. The suggested design changes therefore focus on providing a suitable balance between the social objectives regarding relevance and financial objectives related to sustainability.

No change to NIB's general structure is being recommended. That is, the traditional mandatory, partially funded, defined benefit and publicly managed system of social security that exists throughout the Caribbean should be maintained. However, several changes to contribution, coverage and benefit rules are suggested.

Adjustments To Wage Ceiling, Pensions And Grants 5.1.1

There are three general approaches to adjusting the wage ceiling, pensions and benefit payment rates such as the minimum pension, Funeral and Maternity grants. These are:

- 1. Ad hoc adjustments Regulations do not contain any provisions for periodic review.
- 2. Adjustments in principle Regulations provide for periodic review without specifying procedure, mechanism or degree of adjustment.
- 3. Automatic adjustments Regulations prescribe the procedure, mechanism and degree of adjustment.

National Insurance regulations currently indicate that the earnings ceiling and pensions should be reviewed once cumulative inflation since the last increase reaches 10%. However, this guidance has not worked well as after more than 30 years the wage ceiling has only been adjusted twice. Although several adjustments have been made to pensions, they have not occurred at regular intervals with the same basis for each adjustment. In some instances, pension increases have been timed to coincide with general elections.

It is therefore recommended that an automatic approach to adjusting parameters be adopted with regulations clearly prescribing the timing and procedure for adjusting all fixed-dollar rates and pensions. Frequent adjustments to both the wage ceiling and pensions will ensure that National Insurance remains relevant to both workers and pensioners, providing adequate levels of income protection as wages and prices increase due to inflation.

Specific guidelines for increasing the wage ceiling, pensions and all other fixed-dollar rates are described below:

whose pension is bigger - the current Survivors pension discriminates against the spouse with the lower pension.

To eliminate such anomalies and possible financial hardship that the present Survivors pension provisions may create, it is recommended that Survivors and Retirement pensions be paid as follows:

Case 1: Where both spouses are pensioners, the Survivor receives the higher of two pensions but no less than 60% of combined pensions.

Case 2: Where the Survivor pensioner later qualifies for an Age or Invalidity pension, pay 100% of the larger plus 50% of the smaller pension.

If these rules applied to the couple in the above example, the surviving wife would get a pension of \$600 per month while if the wife died first, the husband would keep his \$700 per month pension.

If this recommendation is adopted, persons who have already claimed Survivors' pensions and who are now receiving only the greater of two benefits would have their pensions reworked under the new rules and would receive larger pensions going forward only.

Industrial Benefits For Self-Employed Persons

Industrial benefits are currently only available to a select group of self-employed persons – licensed drivers whose vehicle is for hire, licensed fruit/straw/vegetable vendors and share fishermen who own their boats. Excluding self-employed persons from employment injury or industrial benefits also exists in several Caribbean social security systems mainly for two reasons:

- able to recover the unpaid contributions.
- work-related could be more complicated than in a larger work environment.

For many self-employed persons, industrial benefits may be the benefits that they value most and thus they are currently not inclined to contribute. Experience with the small group who are currently covered in The Bahamas and elsewhere in the Caribbean where all self-employed are eligible for industrial benefits does not appear to show patterns of excessive costs related to self-employed persons. It is therefore recommended that all self-employed persons be covered for industrial benefits.

To reduce the potential abuse that may arise if self-employed persons were covered for industrial benefits, it should be required that he/she be "up-to-date" with their contributions at the time of the accident or onset of the disease. This need not be the case for employed persons, as the obligation to pay on time rests with the employer, with whom NIB can arrange for payment of late contributions. The term "up-to-date" will have to be defined but should be no longer than 2 months from the due date of the contribution for the month preceding the date of accident.

1. Industrial benefits for employed persons may be paid even where employer contributions are not up-to-date. Allowing self-employed persons to qualify under the same conditions would create a major disincentive for compliance, and the possible payment of a benefit without being

2. Since many self-employed persons work alone, verifying that the injury or illness was indeed

between contributions and pensions, especially for persons whose insurable wages increase considerably as retirement approaches. It would also result in a slight reduction in average pensions which in turn would result in a reduction in projected long-term costs.

If as recommended above, the wage ceiling is increased to \$600 per week, the adjustment of wages above \$250 that is now applied for pension calculations should be revised. For at least the first five years after the change, assuming that regular ceiling adjustments occur thereafter, an appropriate adjustment would be to take 75% of wages above \$400 per week.

The rules related to the award of Retirement benefit prior to age 65 should also be revised. Currently, the pension is reduced by 4% for each year that the age at award is less than age 65. If the pensioner returns to work and is under age 70, the pension is suspended if wages exceed 50% of the wage ceiling. Applying this limit is sometimes difficult as contributions may not be paid for that employee and the Board often receives negative publicity from it. It is therefore recommended that the income test be eliminated. However, the reduction factor applied to the early payment of pensions should be revised to one that is actuarially equivalent; that is, the option of taking a reduced pension earlier would be cost-neutral to both the Fund and the pensioner. The recommended factor is 1/2% for each month that the pension is awarded prior to age 65. If adopted, the reduction factor applied to a pension awarded at age 60 would be 30% instead of the current 20%.

Survivors Benefits

Widows and widowers are eligible to a Survivors pension, if at the time of their spouse's death, they had children under the age of 16 or under 21 and still in school, or they are older than 40 and incapable of economic employment. Therefore, many widows and widowers do not qualify for any benefits at all following the death of their spouse. To provide some financial assistance in the period immediately after the death of a spouse, it is recommended that a Survivors pension be paid for one year to those who meet the contribution conditions but fail to meet the age, employment and dependency conditions.

Survivors & Retirement Benefits

Under current rules, should an insured die and leave a widow or widower who is in receipt of a Retirement pension, or later qualify for a Retirement pension, only the larger of the Retirement and Survivors pensions is paid. As a consequence, it is possible for household income to fall by more than 50% should one pensioner die. For example, if the husband's monthly pension is \$700 and the wife's \$300, total household income would fall from \$1,000 to \$350 after the husband's death. (\$350 is the greater of 50 per cent of \$700 and \$300) Therefore, there would be a strong argument that in such a case more than just the greater benefit be paid as household income does not fall by as much as 50 per cent following the death of one person. Also, the pension to the surviving spouse could differ depending on who dies first. Using the above example, if the wife had died first, the husband's pension would have been \$700. (\$700 is the greater of \$700 and 50 per cent of \$300, or in this case the minimum pension.) Therefore, if both spouses shared household income equally - regardless of

- January.
- inflation.
- increase in the RPI.
- pensions in payment, as determined in 3 above.
- 6. Automatic pension increases should only be granted to persons living in The Bahamas.

The pension adjustments that took effect in March 2007 raised the various minimum pensions to adequate levels. Therefore the next adjustment should be in line with the above recommendations.

For the wage ceiling, which is currently very low at only 0.8 times average national wage and has not been adjusted since 1999, an increase is recommended. Based on actual wage increases since 1999, the average national wage and the income distribution of workers in The Bahamas, it is recommended that the wage ceiling be increased to \$600 per week by January 2009. This adjustment could be made in either one or two steps. Annual adjustments as described above would then be appropriate.

5.1.2 Wages Covered

Social security benefits are designed primarily to replace lost income following temporary or permanent disruptions in employment due to contingencies such as sickness, maternity, retirement, death and invalidity. It is therefore desirable that benefits bear a close relationship to actual employment earnings.

There are two factors that affect the relationship between regular earnings and benefit levels:

- The level of the wage ceiling, which affects those with earnings above the ceiling, and (i)
- The components of regular earnings that are covered. (ii)

1. The wage ceiling, all pensions, grants and other fixed-dollar amounts should be adjusted each

2. The adjustment for pensions in payment should be based on the average of the most recent three years price inflation (as determined from the Retail Price Index). For example, the increase for 2009, which will be determined in 2008, would be average inflation for the period 2005 to 2007. The use of an average will produce a smoother pattern of adjustments and avoid both a large increase following a year of high inflation and/or no increase after a year of negative

3. Given that The Bahamas does not have a national wage index, use of the Retail Price Index (RPI) is acceptable for the purpose of adjusting the wage ceiling. However, since wages tend to increase at a higher rate than inflation, it is recommended that until a reliable national wage index is established, ceiling adjustments be made at a rate of 1% above the three-year average

4. Minimum pension rates, Funeral and Maternity grants should be increased by the same rate as

5. There should be a limit on any single pension adjustment (such as 4%) that can be made without written certification from an actuary that the Fund can support the prescribed increase.

As highlighted in Table 2.2, the wage ceiling which has been increased only twice since inception and not since 1999, is currently very low. In 2006, between 35% and 40% of contributors had earnings that exceeded the weekly \$400 ceiling.

Employer practice varies regarding the payment of wages in excess of the requirement of the Employment Act when an employee is off sick or on maternity leave. However, with only 25% of non-government workers enrolled in employer-linked pension plans, the majority of Bahamian workers will have the National Insurance Retirement pension as their only source of reliable income in old-age. For higher income workers, therefore, a relatively low ceiling means that this pension will provide only limited replacement of their pre-retirement earnings.

Since inception, insurable wages for NIB purposes have included only base wages from the primary employer. Income components such as overtime, allowances, tips and gratuities are excluded. For many workers, especially in the hospitality industry, these other sources of income are substantial and since NIB contributions are not paid on these earnings, benefit amounts represent a lower percentage of regular income than they are for another worker whose entire employment income is insurable. As a result, persons with more than one job and many in the hospitality sector have a lower level of income protection than other workers.

The issue of what wages are covered also affects pensionable civil servants, whose earnings ceiling for pensions is lower than the wage ceiling for other benefits. As a result, when sick, the weekly benefit is 60% of actual wages up to \$400 per week, whereas for pensions, the weekly pension is a maximum of 60% of \$110 per week. While this disparity was initially put in place to prevent lower paid pensionable civil servants from receiving combined NIB and Government pensions that exceeded pre-retirement income, this possibility no longer exists.

It is therefore recommended that:

- 1. Employers should deduct and pay contributions for every employee, regardless of whether or not he/she has other employment. Where wages from multiple employment exceed the wage ceiling, appropriate refunds should be made to employers and workers.
- While overtime and allowances may continue to be excluded, tips and gratuities that are paid 2. together with base wages and bring total earnings up to the wage ceiling should be insurable. The full contribution on these tips and gratuities should be made by the employee only.
- 3. For civil servants, the earnings ceiling for pensions should be increased to the same level as for other workers with the introduction of a new formula for determining pensions that accounts for the fact that contributions were made on lower wages for previous years.

5.1.3 **Benefit Redesign**

Retirement Benefit

In 2006 Retirement benefit payments represented 46% of all benefit expenditure. As NIB matures, this percentage will increase to around 80%. It is therefore important that the eligibility rules and benefit formula provide payments to insured persons that are reasonable; that is, neither overly generous nor too small, but in most cases, reasonably well linked to actual contributions.

The current eligibility requirement of only 150 weeks (three years) to qualify for a lifetime pension is extremely generous. It is therefore recommended that the number of contributions required for Retirement pension be increased to 500 weeks, approximately 10 years. For persons who fail to meet this requirement, a one-time grant should be paid. For Bahamian residents who are awarded a Retirement grant, an Old Age Non-contributory pension could still be awarded if an assessment of their income and resources reveals that such assistance is justified.

With a change in contribution requirements, the pattern of pension accrual rates will also need to be revised. Currently, pension replacement rates begin at 15% after 3 years of contributions, increase to 20% after 5 years with further increments of 2% for each set of 50 contributions between 250 (5 years) and 750 (15 years) and 1% increments for each additional set of 50 weeks until the maximum of 60% is reached after approximately 34 years of contributions. If the contribution requirement is increased to 500 weeks, it is recommended that the following pattern of accrual rates be adopted:

25% plus 1.25% for each set of 50 weeks after the first 500.

The following chart shows the current and proposed pattern of accrual rates.

Figure 5.1. Current & Proposed Pension Accrual Rates



As shown above, the proposed schedule of accrual rates will result in slightly smaller pensions for almost all contribution periods. These pensions would still be considered adequate as they are well in excess of ILO Convention 102 minimums. The same schedule of accrual rates would be used for Invalidity benefit.

It is also recommended that the number of years over which wages are averaged when calculating Retirement benefit be increased from 3 years to 5 years. This change would improve the relationship